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                   inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                       CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                    (In thousands, except share data) 
 
 
 
                                                                June 30,    Dec. 31, 
                                                                  2000         1999 
                                                               ---------     -------- 
                                                              (Unaudited)    (Audited) 
                                                                        
ASSETS: 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents                                     $10,020      $12,047 
  Trade accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for 
    doubtful accounts of $238 and $239, respectively             14,192       10,020 
  Inventories                                                    10,761        7,972 
  Deferred tax asset                                              1,271        1,271 
  Other current assets                                              582          898 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total current assets                                        36,826       32,208 
                                                                -------      ------- 
Machinery and equipment: 
  Machinery and equipment                                         8,457        7,279 
  Leasehold improvements                                          1,556        1,420 
                                                                -------      ------- 
                                                                 10,013        8,699 
  Less: accumulated depreciation                                 (6,606)      (6,002) 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Net machinery and equipment                                  3,407        2,697 
                                                                -------      ------- 
Cash surrender value of life insurance                                -        1,067 
Deferred tax asset                                                  350          350 
Other assets                                                        452          288 
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $1,019 
   and $780, respectively                                         6,166        6,405 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total assets                                               $47,201      $43,015 
                                                                =======      ======= 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
  Notes payable to bank                                         $     -      $ 1,241 
  Accounts payable                                                5,557        5,195 
  Accrued expenses                                                3,083        3,011 
  Current portion of long-term debt                                   -          123 
  Domestic and foreign income taxes payable                       3,647        1,854 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total current liabilities                                   12,287       11,424 
                                                                -------      ------- 
Long-term debt, net of current portion                                -          133 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total liabilities                                           12,287       11,557 
                                                                -------      ------- 
Commitments 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 
     no shares issued or outstanding                                  -            - 
  Common stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 
     8,652,961 and 8,630,980 shares issued, respectively             86           86 
  Additional paid-in capital                                     21,874       21,872 
  Retained earnings                                              16,349       13,077 
  Accumulated other comprehensive earnings                         (130)          14 
  Deferred compensation                                            (112)        (139) 
  Note receivable from Equity Participation Plan                 (3,153)      (3,228) 
  Treasury stock, at cost; 0 and 55,557 shares, respectively          -         (224) 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total stockholders' equity                                  34,914       31,458 
                                                                -------      ------- 
     Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                 $47,201      $43,015 
                                                                =======      ======= 
 
               See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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                          inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                          CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
                           (In thousands, except share data) 
                                     (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
                                          Three Months Ended      Six Months Ended 
                                               June 30,               June 30, 
                                          ------------------     ------------------ 
                                            2000       1999        2000      1999 
                                          -------    -------     --------  -------- 
                                                                 
Net revenues                              $21,317    $10,816     $41,570    $19,039 
Cost of revenues                           10,811      5,502      21,088      9,973 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
      Gross margin                         10,506      5,314      20,482      9,066 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
Operating expenses: 
   Selling expense                          2,709      1,873       5,027      3,411 
   Engineering and product 
    development expense                     1,621      1,185       3,070      2,252 
   General and administrative expense       1,870      1,289       3,344      2,376 
   Merger-related costs                       115          -       2,672          - 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
      Total operating expenses              6,315      4,347      14,113      8,039 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
Operating income                            4,191        967       6,369      1,027 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
Other income (expense): 
   Interest income                            133         81         254        151 
   Interest expense                             -        (52)        (30)      (118) 
   Other                                       30         55          38         55 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
      Total other income                      163         84         262         88 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
Earnings before income taxes                4,354      1,051       6,631      1,115 
 
Income tax expense                          1,560        357       3,359        482 
                                          -------    -------     -------    ------- 
      Net earnings                        $ 2,794    $   694     $ 3,272    $   633 
                                          =======    =======     =======    ======= 
 
Net earnings per common share-basic         $0.34      $0.09       $0.40      $0.08 
 
Weighted average common shares 
 outstanding-basic                      8,190,178  8,071,154   8,163,673  8,066,468 
 
Net earnings per common share-diluted       $0.33      $0.08       $0.39      $0.08 
 
Weighted average common and common 
 share equivalents outstanding-diluted  8,528,166  8,217,571   8,496,884  8,220,990 
 
 
 
          See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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                    inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
             CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS 
                     (In thousands, except share data) 
                               (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                             Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended 
                                                  June 30,            June 30, 
                                             ------------------   ---------------- 
                                               2000       1999     2000      1999 
                                             -------    -------   ------    ------ 
 
                                                                 
Net earnings                                  $2,794    $  694    $3,272    $  633 
 
Foreign currency translation adjustments        (131)      (35)     (144)     (111) 
                                              ------    ------    ------    ------ 
 
Comprehensive earnings                        $2,663    $  659    $3,128    $  522 
                                              ======    ======    ======    ====== 
 
 
 
 
        See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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              inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
          FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2000 
             (In thousands, except share data) 
         (Unaudited except Balance, December 31, 1999) 
 
 
 
                                                          Accum. 
                                                          Other 
                      Common Stock    Addt'l              Comp.              Equity               Total 
                    ----------------  Paid-In   Retained Earnings  Deferred   Part.   Treasury Stockholders' 
                     Shares   Amount  Capital   Earnings (Expense)   Comp.  Plan Note   Stock     Equity 
                    --------- ------ ---------- -------- --------- -------- --------- -------- ------------- 
                                                                       
Balance, 12/31/99   8,630,980  $ 86    $21,872   $13,077   $  14    $ (139)  $(3,228)   $(224)   $31,458 
 
Net earnings                -     -          -     3,272       -         -         -        -      3,272 
 
Other comprehensive 
  expense                   -     -          -         -    (144)        -         -        -       (144) 
 
Amortization of 
  deferred 
  compensation              -     -          -         -       -        27         -        -         27 
 
Principal payments 
  by Equity Participation 
  Plan                      -     -          -         -       -         -        75        -         75 
 
Stock options 
  exercised            77,538     -        226         -       -         -         -        -        226 
 
Retirement of 
  treasury stock      (55,557)    -       (224)        -       -         -         -      224          - 
                    ---------  ----    -------   -------   -----    ------   -------    -----    ------- 
 
Balance, 6/30/00    8,652,961   $ 86   $21,874   $16,349   $(130)   $ (112)  $(3,153)   $   -    $34,914 
                    =========   ====   =======   =======   =====    ======   =======    =====    ======= 
 
 
       See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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                       inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                        (In thousands, except share data) 
                                  (Unaudited) 
 
 
                                                                Six Months Ended 
                                                                     June 30, 
                                                               ----------------- 
                                                                 2000      1999 
                                                               -------   ------- 
                                                                   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  Net earnings                                                 $ 3,272    $  633 
  Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash 
   provided by (used in) operating activities: 
    Depreciation                                                   652       427 
    Amortization of goodwill                                       239       239 
    Foreign exchange (gain) loss                                    (7)        4 
    Allowance for doubtful accounts, net                            (1)        - 
    Deferred compensation relating to stock options                 27        49 
    Changes in assets and liabilities: 
      Trade accounts and notes receivable                       (4,242)   (2,452) 
      Inventories                                               (2,798)     (283) 
      Proceeds from sale of demonstration equipment, 
       net of gain                                                   7        28 
      Refundable domestic and state income taxes                     -       974 
      Other current assets                                         314        14 
      Accounts payable                                             407       615 
      Domestic and foreign income taxes payable                  1,815       524 
      Accrued expenses                                              90       533 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities               (225)    1,305 
                                                               -------   ------- 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
  Purchase of machinery and equipment                           (1,394)     (351) 
  Other long-term assets                                           894       (41) 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Net cash used in investing activities                             (500)     (392) 
                                                               -------   ------- 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
  Net repayments of revolving debt                              (1,241)     (714) 
  Repayment of long-term debt                                     (256)      (79) 
  Note receivable repayments from Equity Participation Plan         75        68 
  Proceeds from stock options exercised                            226         - 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Net cash used in financing activities                           (1,196)     (725) 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Effects of exchange rates on cash                                 (106)      (95) 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Net cash provided by (used in) all activities                   (2,027)       93 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                12,047     8,637 
                                                               -------   ------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                     $10,020   $ 8,730 
                                                               =======   ======= 
 
 
         See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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                  inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
               NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
      (Information as of June 30, 2000 and for the six months ended 
                  June 30, 2000 and 1999 is unaudited) 
                 (In thousands, except for share data) 
 
(1)  NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
     inTEST Corporation (the "Company") is a leading independent designer, 
     manufacturer and marketer of interface solutions and temperature 
     management products that semiconductor manufacturers use in conjunction 
     with automatic test equipment, or ATE, in the testing of integrated 
     circuits, or ICs.  The Company's interface solutions products include 
     manipulator, docking hardware, and tester interface products. 
 
     The consolidated entity is comprised of inTEST Corporation (parent) and 
     its nine 100% owned subsidiaries:  inTEST Limited (Thame, UK), inTEST 
     Kabushiki Kaisha (Kichijoji, Japan), inTEST PTE, Limited (Singapore), 
     inTEST Sunnyvale Corp. (Delaware), Temptronic Corporation (Delaware), 
     inTEST GmbH (Germany)(established in June 2000 with operations to 
     commence during the third quarter of 2000),  inTEST Investments, Inc. (a 
     Delaware holding company), inTEST IP Corp. (a Delaware holding company) 
     and inTEST Licensing Corp. (a Delaware holding company). 
 
     The Company manufactures its products in the U.S.,U.K. and Singapore 
     (where the company commenced manufacturing during September 1999). 
     Marketing and support activities are conducted worldwide from the 
     Company's facilities in the U.S., U.K., Japan and Singapore. 
 
     On March 9, 2000, the Company completed a merger with Temptronic 
     Corporation ("Temptronic") whereby Temptronic was merged into a wholly- 
     owned subsidiary of the Company.  The Company exchanged 2,046,793 shares 
     of its common stock for all of the Temptronic common stock.  Each share 
     of Temptronic common stock was exchanged for 0.925 shares of the 
     Company's common stock.  In addition, outstanding Temptronic stock 
     options were converted at the same exchange ratio into options to acquire 
     175,686 shares of the Company's common stock. The merger was accounted 
     for under the pooling-of-interests method of accounting and, accordingly, 
     the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
     retroactively restated to give effect to the merger.  Upon consummation 
     of the merger, 55,557 shares of treasury stock held by Temptronic with a 
     cost of $224 were retired.  Temptronic also has a 95% owned foreign 
     subsidiary which is consolidated with Temptronic for reporting purposes. 
     Minority interest in this foreign subsidiary is not material. 
 
(2)  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
     Basis of Presentation 
     --------------------- 
 
     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the 
     Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.  All significant intercompany 
     accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.  The 
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                  inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
          NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
                              (Unaudited) 
 
(2)  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
     Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
     --------------------- 
 
     preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
     accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
     assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
     and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
     financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
     during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
     estimates. 
 
     Interim Financial Reporting 
     --------------------------- 
 
     In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated 
     financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of 
     normally recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the 
     financial position, results of operations, and changes in cash flows 
     for the interim periods presented. 
 
     Certain footnote information has been condensed or omitted from these 
     financial statements.  Therefore, these financial statements should be 
     read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
     accompanying footnotes included in the Company's Form 8-K/A filed on 
     May 16, 2000. 
 
     Net Earnings Per Common Share 
     ----------------------------- 
 
     Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings 
     by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
     each period.  Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing 
     net earnings by the weighted average number of common shares and 
     common share equivalents outstanding during each period.  Common share 
     equivalents represent stock options using the treasury stock method. 
 
     Weighted average common shares outstanding exclude unallocated shares of 
     common stock held by the Company's Equity Participation Plan. 
 
     New Accounting Pronouncements 
     ----------------------------- 
 
     In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 
     No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, 
     which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative 
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                  inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
          NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
                              (Unaudited) 
 
 
(2)  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
     New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 
     ----------------------------- 
 
     instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other 
     contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives) and for hedging 
     activities.  SFAS 133 is effective for all fiscal quarters of fiscal 
     years beginning after June 15, 2000.  The Company plans to adopt this 
     Statement in the first quarter of 2001, as required.  The adoption of 
     this Statement is not expected to have a material effect on the results 
     of operations, financial condition or long-term liquidity of the Company. 
 
 
(3)  SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
     The various products the Company designs, manufactures and markets, which 
     include manipulator, docking hardware, tester interface and 
     temperature management products, are considered by management to be a 
     single product segment.  Included in this segment are products the 
     Company designs and markets that are manufactured by third parties, which 
     include high performance test sockets and interface boards.  The Company 
     operates its business worldwide and divides the world into three 
     geographic segments:  North America, Asia-Pacific and Europe.  The North 
     America segment includes the Company's manufacturing, design and service 
     facilities in New Jersey, California and Massachusetts; the Asia-Pacific 
     segment includes the Company's manufacturing, design and service 
     facilities in Singapore and the Company's design and service facilities 
     in Japan; and the Europe segment includes the Company's manufacturing, 
     design and service facility in the U.K. and the Company's design and 
     service facility in Germany (operations to commence during the third 
     quarter of 2000).  Each segment sells Company designed and manufactured 
     products, while products produced by third party manufacturers are 
     primarily distributed by the Company's Asia-Pacific segment.  All three 
     segments sell to semiconductor manufacturers and automatic test equipment 
     manufacturers.  The North America segment sells through Company account 
     managers, independent sales representatives and distributors; the Asia- 
     Pacific segment sells through Company account managers and independent 
     sales representatives; and the Europe segment sells through Company 
     account managers and distributors. 
 
     Intercompany pricing between segments is either a multiple of cost for 
     component parts used in manufacturing or a percentage discount from list 
     price for finished goods sold to non-manufacturing segments. 
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                  inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
          NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
                              (Unaudited) 
 
(3)  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
 
 
                                               Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended 
                                                    June 30,           June 30, 
                                               ------------------  ----------------- 
                                                 2000      1999      2000      1999 
                                               -------   -------   -------   ------- 
                                                                  
     Net revenues from unaffiliated customers: 
       North America                           $18,486   $ 8,865   $34,633   $15,720 
       Asia-Pacific                              1,706     1,425     3,807     2,383 
       Europe                                    1,125       526     3,130       936 
                                                ------    ------   -------   ------- 
                                               $21,317   $10,816   $41,570   $19,039 
                                                ======    ======   =======   ======= 
     Affiliate sales or transfers from: 
       North America                           $   617   $   469   $ 1,497   $   885 
       Asia-Pacific                                  -         -        10         - 
       Europe                                      181       342       305       435 
                                                ------    ------   -------   ------- 
                                               $   798   $   811   $ 1,812   $ 1,320 
                                                ======    ======   =======   ======= 
     Operating income: 
       North America                           $ 3,362   $   695   $ 4,035   $   720 
       Asia-Pacific                                476       127       937       204 
       Europe                                      353       145     1,397       103 
                                                ------    ------   -------   ------- 
                                               $ 4,191   $   967   $ 6,369   $ 1,027 
                                                ======    ======   =======   ======= 
     Earnings before income taxes: 
       North America                           $ 3,509   $   744   $ 4,259   $   762 
       Asia-Pacific                                521       159     1,007       245 
       Europe                                      324       147     1,365       108 
                                                ------    ------   -------   ------- 
                                               $ 4,354   $ 1,051   $ 6,631   $ 1,115 
                                                ======    ======   =======   ======= 
     Net earnings: 
       North America                           $ 2,160   $   496   $ 1,545   $   447 
       Asia-Pacific                                380        76       688        83 
       Europe                                      254       123     1,039       103 
                                                ------    ------   -------   ------- 
                                               $ 2,794   $   694   $ 3,272   $   633 
                                                ======    ======   =======   ======= 
 
 
 
      The $2.7 million of merger-related costs were incurred by the North 
      America segment. 
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                   inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 
 
 
Overview 
- -------- 
 
     We are a leading independent designer, manufacturer and marketer of 
interface solutions and temperature management products that semiconductor 
manufacturers use in conjunction with automatic test equipment, or ATE, in the 
testing of integrated circuits, or ICs.  Our interface solutions products 
include manipulator, docking hardware and tester interface products.  Our high 
performance products are designed to enable semiconductor manufacturers to 
improve the efficiency of their IC test processes and, consequently, their 
profitability.  We supply our products worldwide to major semiconductor 
manufacturers directly and through leading ATE manufacturers. 
 
     Our revenues depend substantially upon the demand for ATE by 
semiconductor manufacturers and, therefore, fluctuate generally in response to 
the cyclicality in the semiconductor manufacturing industry.  During the past 
several years, the demand for ATE by the semiconductor industry has exhibited 
a high degree of cyclicality.  Our second quarter 2000 results reflect the 
continuation of a period of growth in the semiconductor industry which has 
been evidenced by our sequential quarterly growth in net revenues which grew 
from $10.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 1999 to a record $21.3 
million for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.  Orders for our products 
("bookings") were a record $25.3 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 
compared with $15.9 million for the quarter ended June 30, 1999.  As a result 
of our increased bookings, our backlog increased from $13.1 million at June 
30, 1999 to $21.3 million at June 30, 2000.  We believe that the increases in 
our net revenues, bookings, and backlog reflect the increased demand for ATE 
by semiconductor manufacturers.  Although we calculate bookings and backlog on 
the basis of firm orders, we cannot give any assurance that customers will 
purchase the equipment subject to such orders.  As a result, our bookings for 
any period and backlog at any particular date do not necessarily serve as an 
indicator of actual sales for any succeeding period. 
 
 
Significant Events 
- ------------------ 
 
     On March 9, 2000, we acquired Temptronic Corporation.  The acquisition 
was in the form of a merger of Temptronic into a subsidiary of ours, and was 
accounted for as a pooling of interests.  The following discussion describes 
our results of operations and financial condition on a pooled basis. 
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             inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
Results of Operations 
- --------------------- 
Three Months Ended June 30, 2000 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 1999: 
 
     Net Revenues.  Net revenues were a record $21.3 million for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2000 compared to $10.8 million for the same period in 1999, an 
increase of $10.5 million or 97%.  We believe that the increase in net 
revenues over the comparable prior period is principally the result of 
continued growth in the demand for ATE in 2000 compared to 1999. 
 
     Gross Margin.  Gross margin was 49% for the quarters ended June 30, 2000 
and 1999.  The positive impact of higher net revenues on the absorption of 
fixed manufacturing costs was offset by additions to these costs resulting 
from increased capacity, primarily at our domestic manufacturing facilities. 
 
     Selling Expense.  Selling expense was $2.7 million for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2000 compared to $1.9 million for the same period in 1999, an 
increase of $836,000 or 45%.  We attribute the increase primarily to increased 
commission expense resulting from the higher sales levels in 2000, as well as 
higher levels of warranty costs, advertising expenditures and increases in 
salary expense resulting from new sales and marketing staff hired in 1999. 
 
     Engineering and Product Development Expense.  Engineering and product 
development expense was $1.6 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 
compared to $1.2 million for the same period in 1999, an increase of $436,000 
or 37%.  We attribute the increase primarily to the salary expense of 
additional engineering and technical staff, as well as increased expenditures 
for product development materials associated with new product development. 
 
     General and Administrative Expense.  General and administrative expense 
was $1.9 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 compared to $1.3 million 
for the same period in 1999, an increase of $581,000 or 45%.  We attribute the 
increase primarily to increases in incentive compensation for existing staff 
and higher administrative salary expense resulting from staffing additions and 
salary increases for existing staff. 
 
     Merger-related Costs.  Merger-related costs resulting from the Company's 
merger with Temptronic Corporation were $115,000 for the quarter ended June 
30, 2000.  These costs relate to the shut-down of Temptronic's U.K. 
subsidiary, which will be completed in the third quarter of 2000.  We do not 
expect to record any further significant costs related to the merger in future 
periods. 
 
     Income Tax Expense.  Income tax expense increased to $1.6 million for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2000 from $357,000 for the comparable period in 
1999, an increase of $1.2 million.  Our effective tax rate for the second 
quarter of 2000 was 36% compared to 34% for the comparable prior period.  The 
increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to the fact that no taxes 
were accrued in the second quarter of 1999 on Temptronic's operating income 
for that period because no benefit had been recorded for Temptronic's 
operating loss in the first quarter of 1999.  This loss was approximately 
equivalent to Temptronic's operating income for the second quarter. 
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             inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2000 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 1999 
 
     Net Revenues.  Net revenues were $41.6 million for the six months ended 
June 30, 2000 compared to $19.0 million for the same period in 1999, an 
increase of $22.5 million or 118%.  We believe that the increase in net 
revenues over the comparable prior period is principally the result of 
continued growth in the demand for ATE in 2000 compared to 1999. 
 
     Gross Margin.  Gross margin increased to 49% for the six months ended 
June 30, 2000 from 48% for the comparable period in 1999.  The improvement in 
gross margin primarily resulted from the absorption of fixed manufacturing 
costs over significantly higher net revenue levels in 2000 compared to 1999. 
 
     Selling Expense.  Selling expense was $5.0 million for the six months 
ended June 30, 2000 compared to $3.4 million for the same period in 1999, an 
increase of $1.6 million or 47%.  We attribute the increase primarily to 
increased commission expense resulting from the higher sales levels in 2000, 
as well as higher levels of warranty costs, advertising expenditures, travel 
costs and freight expenses and increases in salary expense resulting from new 
sales and marketing staff hired in 1999. 
 
     Engineering and Product Development Expense.  Engineering and product 
development expense was $3.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2000 
compared to $2.3 million for the same period in 1999, an increase of $818,000 
or 36%.  We attribute the increase primarily to the salary expense of 
additional engineering and technical staff, as well as increased expenditures 
for product development materials and travel expenses associated with new 
product development. 
 
     General and Administrative Expense.  General and administrative expense 
was $3.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2000 compared to $2.4 
million for the same period in 1999, an increase of $968,000 or 41%.  We 
attribute the increase primarily to increases in incentive compensation for 
existing staff and higher administrative salary expense resulting from 
staffing additions and salary increases for existing staff.  To a lesser 
extent, increases in investor relations expense and professional fees 
contributed to the increase in general and administrative expenses.  This was 
partially offset by $200,000 received during the first quarter from the 
settlement of patent infringement litigation. 
 
     Merger-related Costs.  Merger-related costs resulting from the Company's 
merger with Temptronic Corporation were $2.7 million, which consisted 
primarily of fees paid to investment bankers, professional fees, printing, 
escrow and other miscellaneous costs.  We do not expect to record any further 
significant costs related to the merger in future periods. 
 
     Income Tax Expense.  Income tax expense increased to $3.4 million for the 
six months ended June 30, 2000 from $482,000 for the comparable prior period 
in 1999, an increase of $2.9 million.  Our effective tax rate for the first 
six months of 2000 was 51% due to the recognition of $2.3 million of non-tax 
deductible merger-related costs.  In addition, we recognized a $237,000 
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             inTEST CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
taxable gain on the liquidation of life insurance policies held on certain 
former Temptronic officers and directors.  The effective tax rate for the 
first six months of 1999 was 43% primarily due to a higher effective tax rate 
in Japan, caused by certain recurring expenses that are not deductible for tax 
purposes, coupled with the reduced profitability of our Japanese operations 
during that period. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
- ------------------------------- 
 
     Net cash used in operations for the six months ended June 30, 2000 was 
$225,000.  Accounts receivable increased $4.2 million from December 31, 1999 
to June 30, 2000 due to the increase in sales activity during the first six 
months of 2000.  Inventories increased $2.8 million, also as a result of the 
increased sales activity as we made purchases for future product shipments. 
Other current assets decreased $314,000, primarily as a result of the 
expensing of previously capitalized merger-related costs.  Accounts payable 
increased $407,000 due to the higher production levels during the first six 
months of 2000.  Accrued expenses increased $90,000 primarily as a result of 
additional accruals for salary and incentive compensation as well as merger- 
related restructuring costs.  This was partially offset by the payment of 
previously accrued professional fees, primarily related to the merger with 
Temptronic.  Domestic and foreign income taxes payable increased $1.8 million 
as a result of the accrual of income taxes on the earnings for the first six 
months of 2000. 
 
     Purchases of machinery and equipment were $1.4 million for the six months 
ended June 30, 2000, which consisted primarily of improvements to the 
Company's facilities in the United States. During this period we spent 
approximately $451,000 on equipment, $236,000 on leasehold improvements and 
$230,000 on furnishings at our new facility for our inTEST Sunnyvale 
operation. We spent approximately $395,000 on manufacturing and computer 
equipment at various other domestic operations during the quarter, including 
approximately $123,000 for demonstration equipment related to a recently 
redesigned product of our Temptronic subsidiary.  We plan to relocate our 
headquarters and primary manufacturing facility during the third quarter of 
2000.  Our current estimate of the total cost of leasehold improvements and 
other costs associated with the move is approximately $1.5 million, however, 
we are continuing to review the plans for this facility and may incur 
additional costs if management determines additional improvements are 
desirable. 
 
     Other long-term assets decreased $894,000 primarily as a result of the 
liquidation of life insurance policies held on certain former Temptronic 
officers and directors. 
 
     Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 
2000 was $1.2 million.  During the period we repaid approximately $1.2 million 
under revolving lines of credit as well as $256,000 of long-term debt acquired 
as a result of the merger with Temptronic.  During the six months ended June 
30, 2000 we received $226,000 from the exercise of stock options held by 
employees. 
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Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
     We believe that our existing cash balances and lines of credit plus the 
anticipated net cash provided from operations will be sufficient to satisfy 
our cash requirements for the foreseeable future.  However, future 
acquisitions may require additional equity or debt financing to meet working 
capital requirements or capital expenditure needs.  We do not anticipate 
paying dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 
International Operations 
- ------------------------ 
 
     Net revenues generated by our foreign subsidiaries were 17% of 
consolidated net revenues for each of the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 
1999.  We anticipate that net revenues generated by our foreign subsidiaries 
will continue to account for a significant portion of consolidated net 
revenues in the foreseeable future.  The net revenues generated by our foreign 
subsidiaries will continue to be subject to certain risks, including political 
and economic instability of foreign countries, the imposition of financial and 
operational controls or regulatory restrictions by foreign governments, the 
need to comply with a variety of U. S. and foreign export and import laws, 
trade restrictions, changes in tariffs and taxes, longer payment cycles, 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, and the greater difficulty of 
administering business abroad.  We cannot predict whether quotas, duties, 
taxes or other charges or restrictions will be implemented by the United 
States or any other country upon the importation or exportation of our 
products in the future.  Any of these factors or the adoption of restrictive 
policies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition or results of operations. 
 
     Net revenues denominated in foreign currencies were 12% and 11% of 
consolidated net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, 
respectively.  Although we seek to operate our business such that a 
significant portion of our product costs are denominated in the same currency 
that the associated sales are made in, we may be adversely affected in the 
future due to our exposure to foreign operations.  Moreover, net revenues 
denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars expose us to currency 
fluctuations, which can adversely affect results of operations. 
 
     The portion of our consolidated net revenues that were derived from sales 
to the Asia-Pacific region were 9% and 13% for the six months ended June 30, 
2000 and 1999, respectively.  Countries in the Asia-Pacific region, including 
Japan, have experienced economic instability resulting in weaknesses in their 
currency, banking and equity markets.   Although the past economic instability 
in the Asia-Pacific region has not materially adversely affected our order 
backlog, financial position, or results of operations to date, continued 
economic instability could have a material adverse effect on demand for our 
products and our consolidated results of operations. 
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Item 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
          RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 
- --------------------------------------------------------- 
 
     This Report contains statements of a forward-looking nature relating to 
future events, such as statements regarding the anticipated market for our 
products throughout the balance of 2000; costs related to our merger with 
Temptronic Corporation; expenditures for leasehold improvements and moving 
costs for our new headquarters and primary manufacturing facility; anticipated 
net revenues generated by foreign operations; sufficiency of cash balances, 
lines of credit and net cash from operations; and use of forward exchange rate 
contracts.  Forward-looking statements typically can be identified by the use 
of terminology such as "believes," expects," "may," "will," "should" or 
"anticipates" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or 
comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and 
uncertainties.  Investors and prospective investors are cautioned that such 
statements are only projections and that actual events or results may differ 
materially from those expressed in any such forward-looking statements.  In 
addition to the factors described in this Report, our actual consolidated 
quarterly or annual operating results have been affected in the past, or could 
be affected in the future, by additional factors, including, without 
limitation: changes in business conditions and the economy, generally; our 
ability to obtain patent protection, and enforce our patent rights, for 
existing and developing proprietary technologies; our ability to integrate 
successfully businesses, technologies or products which we may acquire; the 
effect of the loss of, or reduction in orders from, a major customer; 
cancellation, or delays in shipment, of orders in our backlog; competition 
from other manufacturers of docking hardware, manipulators, tester interfaces 
and related ATE interface products and temperature management products; cost 
overruns relating to leasehold improvements and moving costs for our new 
headquarters and primary manufacturing facility; unanticipated exchange rate 
fluctuations; and capital requirements relating to future acquisitions. 
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Item 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
 
      We are exposed to currency exchange rate risk in the normal course of 
our business, primarily in our Japanese operations.  Our exposure results from 
the fact that the sales of our Japanese subsidiary are in Japanese yen and 
inventory purchases are in U.S. dollars.  We will have a similar exposure in 
our Singapore operations as our manufacturing operations, which commenced in 
September 1999, expand, because our sales will be in U.S. dollars but our 
manufacturing costs will be primarily in Singapore dollars.  We employ risk 
management strategies, including the use of forward exchange rate contracts, 
to manage our exposure to exchange rate risks involving the yen, and may, in 
the future, use forward exchange rate contracts to manage our exposure to 
exchange rate risks involving the Singapore dollar. 
 
      Our objective in managing currency exchange risk is to minimize the 
impact of significant currency exchange rate fluctuations.  We use forward 
exchange rate contracts to establish a fixed conversion rate between the 
Japanese yen and the U.S. dollar so that the level of our gross margin from 
sales in Japan is not negatively affected by significant movements in the 
Japanese yen to U.S. dollar exchange rate.  We purchase forward exchange rate 
contracts on a monthly basis in the amounts management deems appropriate in 
light of the amount of the U.S. dollar denominated obligations of our Japanese 
subsidiary that are due within the month.  We do not purchase forward 
contracts with settlement dates beyond 30 days.  As of June 30, 2000, there 
were no forward exchange rate contracts outstanding. 
 
      It is our policy to enter into forward exchange rate contracts only to 
the extent necessary to achieve the desired objectives of management in 
limiting our exposure to significant fluctuations in currency exchange rates. 
We do not expect that the results of our operations or our liquidity will be 
materially affected by these risk management activities.  We do not hedge all 
of our currency exchange rate risk exposures in a manner that would completely 
eliminate the impact of changes in currency exchange rates on our net 
earnings. 
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
 
Item 1.   Legal Proceedings 
 
          Not applicable 
 
Item 2.   Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds 
 
          Not applicable 
 
Item 3.   Defaults Upon Senior Securities 
 
          None 
 
 
Item 4.   Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securities Holders 
 
          None 
 
Item 5.   Other Information 
 
          None 
 
Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
          (a) Exhibits: 
 
              3.1  Articles of Incorporation: Previously filed by the 
                   Company as an Exhibit to the Company's Registration 
                   Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-26457, and 
                   Incorporated herein by reference. 
 
              3.2  By-Laws: Previously filed by the Company as an Exhibit 
                   to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, 
                   File No. 333-26457, and incorporated herein by 
                   reference. 
 
             10.1  Lease Agreement between First Industrial, L.P. and inTEST 
                   Corporation, dated June 6, 2000. 
 
             10.2  Letter Agreement with William M. Stone, dated June 22, 2000. 
 
             27    Financial Data Schedule 
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K (Continued) 
 
      (b) Reports on Form 8-K 
 
          On April 6, 2000, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K providing 
          information responsive to the requirements of Item 5 and 7 of that 
          form regarding the settlement of the Company's patent infringement 
          suit against Reid Ashman Manufacturing, Inc. 
 
          On May 16, 2000, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K 
          providing information responsive to the requirements of Item 5 of 
          that form regarding the financial results of the Company for the 
          month ended April 30, 2000 in accordance with Accounting Series 
          Release No. 135. 
 
          A report on Form 8-K/A was filed on May 16,2000, amending the 
          initial Form 8-K filed on March 20, 2000 reporting the merger with 
          Temptronic Corporation, to include the following financial 
          statements required by Item 7 of that form: 
 
          (i) Financial Statements of Temptronic Corporation 
 
             (A) The consolidated financial statements of Temptronic 
                 Corporation at June 30, 1998 and 1999: 
 
              Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 1999 and 1998 
              Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended 
                June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for 
                the years ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years 
                ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 
                June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
 
             (B) The consolidated financial statements of Temptronic 
                  Corporation at December 31, 1999 and for the six months 
                  ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 
 
              Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 1999 
                (Unaudited) 
              Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the six 
                months ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 (Unaudited) 
              Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
                (Loss) for the six months ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 
                (Unaudited) 
              Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for 
                 the six months ended December 31, 1999 (Unaudited) 
              Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six 
                 months ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 (Unaudited) 
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K (Continued) 
 
      (b) Reports on Form 8-K (Continued) 
 
          (ii) Restated Consolidated Financial Statements to reflect the 
               pooling of interests with Temptronic Corporation 
 
              Restated Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 
                1999 and 1998 
              Restated Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years 
                ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Restated Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings 
                for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Restated Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 
                for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
              Restated Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years 
                ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 
 
                                    -19 - 
 



 
 
                            Signatures 
 
 
 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 
 
                                       inTEST Corporation 
 
 
 
Date:   August 14, 2000                /s/ Robert E. Matthiessen 
       ------------------              ------------------------------------- 
                                       Robert E. Matthiessen 
                                       President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
Date:   August 14, 2000                /s/ Hugh T. Regan, Jr. 
       ------------------              ------------------------------------- 
                                       Hugh T. Regan, Jr. 
                                       Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 
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                                                      EXHIBIT 10.1 
 
                            FIRST INDUSTRIAL, L.P. 
                                STANDARD FORM 
                           INDUSTRIAL BUILDING LEASE 
                                (Multi-Tenant) 
 
1.   BASIC TERMS 
 
    This Section 1 contains the Basic Terms of this Lease between Landlord and 
Tenant, named below.  Other Sections of the Lease referred to in this Section1 
explain and define the Basic Terms and are to be read in conjunction with the 
Basic Terms. 
    1.1   Date of Lease:  June 6, 2000 
 
    1.2   Landlord:  First Industrial,  L.P., a Delaware limited partnership 
 
    1.3   Tenant:  inTEST Corporation, a New Jersey corporation 
 
    1.4   Premises:  80,000 sq. ft. of space at 3 Computer Drive, Cherry Hill 
Industrial Park, Cherry Hill Township, Camden County, New Jersey, as depicted 
in Exhibit "A" 
 
    1.5   Property:  See Exhibit "B" 
 
    1.6   Lease Term:  Ten (10) years ("Term"), commencing upon the 
completion of Work Items (herein defined), as set forth in Exhibit "C" 
("Commencement Date") and ending on the last day of the month in which the 
tenth anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs, unless sooner terminated as 
provided in this Lease ("Expiration Date") 
 
    1.7   Permitted Uses:  Administrative, marketing and technical support 
offices; design and manufacturing facilities for test head positioners, 
docking systems and products related to automated test equipment (See Section 
4) 
 
    1.8   Tenant's Guarantor:  None 
 
    1.9   Brokers:  None 
 
    1.10  Security Deposit:  $31,750.00 including the existing security 
deposits under the Prior Leases, herein defined, which Security Deposits shall 
be transferred to Landlord and held as part of the Security Deposit hereunder. 
 
    1.11  Base Rent Payable by Tenant is: 
 
          Years               Per Annum              Per Month 
          -----              -----------             ---------- 
           1-3               $381,000.00             $31,750.00 
           4-6               $409,200.00             $34,100.00 
            7                $440,400.00             $36,700.00 
            8                $453,600.00             $37,800.00 
            9                $467,220.00             $38,935.00 
            10               $481,200.00             $40,100.00 
 
    1.12  Initial Estimated Additional Rent Payable by Tenant: $130,800.00 per 
annum; $10,900.00 per month, subject to Section 3 
 
    1.13  Tenant's Proportionate Share:  44.20% 
 
    1.14  Riders to Lease:  The following riders are attached to and made a 
part of this Lease.  See Exhibits "A", "B", "C", "D" and "E" attached 
hereto and made a part hereof. 
 
    1.15  Tenant's SIC Number:  3999 
 
2.   LEASE OF PREMISES; RENT 
 
    2.1   Lease of Premises for Lease Term.  Landlord hereby leases the 
Premises to Tenant, and Tenant hereby rents the Premises from Landlord, for 
the Term and subject to the conditions of this Lease.   The Lease for the 
Premises includes the non-exclusive right to use the Common Areas, herein 
defined, subject to the terms hereof. 
 
    2.2   Types of Rental Payments.  Tenant shall pay rents of (a) net base 
rent payable in monthly installments as set forth in Section 1.11 hereof, in 
advance, on the first day of each and every calendar month during the Term of 



this Lease (the "Base Rent"); and (b) Tenant's Proportionate Share of 
Operating Expenses (defined below) and any other amounts owed by Tenant 
hereunder (collectively, "Additional Rent"); and (c) in the event any 
monthly installment of Base Rent or Additional Rent, or both, is not paid 
within ten (10) days of the date when due, a late charge in an amount equal to 
five percent (5%) of the then delinquent installment of Base Rent and/or 
Additional Rent (the "Late Charge"; the Late Charge, Base Rent, Additional 
Rent and all other amounts payable under this Lease by Tenant shall be 
collectively referred to as "Rent"), to First Industrial Pennsylvania L.P., 
P.O. Box 33098, Newark, NJ 07188-0098 or if sent by overnight courier, 
Attention:  First Chicago National Processing Center, 3rd Floor, 300 Harmon 
Meadow Boulevard, Secaucus, NJ 07094, Attention:  First Industrial 
Pennsylvania, L.P., Lockbox 33098 (or such other entity designated as 
Landlord's management agent, if any, and if Landlord so appoints such a 
management agent, the "Agent"), or pursuant to such other directions as 
Landlord shall designate in this Lease or otherwise in writing. 
 
    2.3   Covenants Concerning Rental Payments.  Tenant shall pay the Rent 
promptly when due, without notice or demand, and without any abatement, 
deduction or setoff, except as may otherwise be expressly and specifically 
provided in this Lease.  No payment by Tenant, or receipt or acceptance by 
Agent or Landlord, of a lesser amount than the correct Rent shall be deemed to 
be other than a payment on account, nor shall any endorsement or statement on 
any check or letter accompanying any payment be deemed an accord or 
 



 
 
satisfaction, and Agent or Landlord may accept such payment without prejudice 
to its right to recover the balance due or to pursue any other remedy 
available to Landlord.  If the Commencement Date occurs on a day other than 
the first day of a calendar month, the Rent due for the first calendar month 
of the Term shall be prorated on a per diem basis, and the Term will be 
extended to terminate at the end of the calendar month in which the Expiration 
Date stated in Section 1.5 occurs. 
 
3.   OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
    3.1  Definitional Terms Relating to Additional Rent.  For purposes of this 
Section and other relevant provisions of the Lease: 
 
         (a)  Operating Expenses.  The term "Operating Expenses" shall mean 
all costs and expenses paid or incurred with respect to the ownership, repair, 
replacement, restoration, maintenance and operation of the Property, 
including, without limitation, the following:  (i) all costs, wages and 
benefits of employees or other agents of Landlord or Agent engaged in the 
operation, maintenance or rendition of other services to or for the Property; 
(ii) to the extent not separately metered, billed, or furnished (e.g. 
electricity and gas), all charges for utilities and services furnished to 
either or both of the Property and the Premises (including, without 
limitation, the Common Areas [as hereinafter defined]), together with any 
taxes on such utilities; (iii) all premiums for casualty, workers' 
compensation, liability, boiler, flood and all other types of insurance 
provided by Landlord and relating to the Property; (iv) the cost of all 
supplies, tools, materials and equipment utilized in the ownership and 
operation of the Property, and sales and other taxes thereon; (v) amounts 
charged by any or all of contractors, materialmen and suppliers for services, 
materials and supplies furnished in connection with any or all of the 
operation, repair and maintenance of any part of the Property, including, 
without limitation, the structural elements of the Property and the Common 
Areas (including association assessments or charges for such maintenance and 
repairs); (vi) management fees to Agent or other persons or management 
entities actually involved in the management and operation of the  Property 
(which persons or management entities may be Landlord or affiliates of 
Landlord); (vii) any capital improvements made by, or on behalf of, Landlord 
to the Property that are designed to reduce Operating Expenses (such costs 
being amortized over the useful life of the capital improvements, as 
reasonably determined by Landlord); (viii) all professional fees incurred in 
connection with the operation, management and maintenance of the Property; and 
(ix) Taxes, as hereinafter defined.  "Operating Expenses" shall not include 
(i)  any shared costs or expenses, to the extent the same relate to property 
other than the Property; (ii) costs or expenses payable by any tenant 
directly; or (iii) any costs expenses reimbursed by insurance or other third 
party. 
 
         (b)  Taxes.  The term "Taxes," as referred to in 3.1(a)(ix) above 
shall mean (i) all governmental taxes, assessments, fees and charges of every 
kind or nature (other than Landlord's income taxes), whether general, special, 
ordinary or extraordinary, due at any time or from time to time, during the 
Term and any extensions thereof, in connection with the ownership, leasing, or 
operation of the Property, or of the personal property and equipment located 
therein or used in connection therewith; and (ii) any reasonable expenses 
incurred by Landlord in contesting such taxes or assessments and/or the 
assessed value of the Property.  For purposes hereof, Taxes for any year shall 
be Taxes that are due for payment or paid in that year rather than Taxes that 
are assessed, become a lien, or accrue during such year.   Upon written 
request by Tenant, Landlord agrees to consult with Tenant to review the 
current real estate tax assessment for the Property, provided Landlord 
reserves the right to determine whether or not an assessment appeal is 
maintained. 
 
         (c)  Operating Year.  The term "Operating Year" shall mean the 
calendar year commencing January 1st of each year (including the calendar year 
within which the Commencement Date occurs) during the Term. 
 
    3.2  Payment of Operating Expenses.  Tenant shall pay as additional rent 
and in accordance with the requirements of Section 3.3, its Proportionate 
Share of the Operating Expenses as set forth in Section 3.3.  The Additional 
Rent commences to accrue upon the Commencement Date.  The Tenant's 
Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses payable hereunder for the Operating 
Years in which the Term begins and ends shall be prorated to correspond to 
that portion of said Operating Years occurring within the Term.  Tenant's 
Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses and any other sums due and payable 
under this Lease shall be adjusted upon receipt of the actual bills therefor 
and the obligations of this Section 3 shall survive the termination or 
expiration of the Lease. 



 
    3.3  Payment of Additional Rent.  Landlord shall have the right to 
reasonably estimate the Operating Expenses for each Operating Year.  Upon 
Landlord's or Agent's notice to Tenant of such estimated amount, Tenant shall 
pay, on the first day of each month during that Operating Year, an amount (the 
"Estimated Additional Rent") equal to the estimate of the Tenant's 
Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses divided by 12 (or the fractional 
portion of the Operating Year remaining at the time Landlord delivers its 
notice of estimated Operating Expenses due from Tenant).  If the aggregate 
amount of Estimated Additional Rent actually paid by Tenant during any 
Operating Year is less than Tenant's actual ultimate liability for Operating 
Expenses for that particular Operating Year, as determined pursuant to Section 
3.2, Tenant shall pay the deficiency within thirty (30) days of demand.  If 
the aggregate amount of Estimated Additional Rent actually paid by Tenant 
during a given Operating Year exceeds Tenant's actual liability for such 
Operating Year, the excess shall be credited against the Estimated Additional 
Rent due from Tenant during the immediately subsequent Operating Year, except 
that in the event that such excess is paid by Tenant during the final Lease 
Year, then upon the expiration of the Term, Landlord or Agent shall pay Tenant 
the then applicable excess promptly after determination thereof.  No interest 
shall be payable to Tenant on account of such payments of Estimated Additional 
Rent and such payments may be commingled. 
 
    3.4  Review of Operating Expenses.  As soon as practical following the end 
of each Operating Year (including the year in which the term of this Lease 
ends), Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement indicating the actual 
amount of Operating Expenses for such ended Operating Year.  Tenant, at its 
sole cost and expense, shall have the right to be exercised no later than 
forty-five (45) days following the furnishing of the aforesaid statement to 
Tenant, upon ten (10) days' prior written notice to Landlord, to examine at a 
location determined by Landlord, the Landlord's backup support and date 
relating to Operating Expenses for the preceding operating Operating Year. 
 
4.   USE OF PREMISES AND COMMON AREAS; SECURITY DEPOSIT 
 
    4.1  Use of Premises.  The Premises shall be used for the purpose(s) set 
forth in Section 1.6 above and for no other purpose whatsoever.  Tenant shall 
not, at any time, use or occupy, or suffer or permit anyone to use or occupy, 
the Premises, or do or permit anything to be done in the Premises, in any 
manner that may (a) violate any Certificate of Occupancy for the Premises or 
the Property; (b) cause, or be liable to cause, injury to, or in any way 
impair the proper utilization of, all or any portion of the Property 
(including, but not limited to, the structural elements of the Property) or 
 
                                   2 
 



 
 
any equipment, facilities or systems therein; (c) constitute a violation of 
the laws and requirements of any public authority or the requirements of 
insurance bodies or the rules and regulations of the Property; (d) impair or 
tend to impair the character, reputation or appearance of the Property; or (e) 
unreasonably annoy, inconvenience or disrupt the operations or tenancies of 
other tenants or users of the Property, if any. 
 
    4.2  Use of Common Areas. As used herein, "Common Areas" shall mean all 
areas within and adjoining the Property that are available for the common use 
of tenants of the Property and that are not leased or held for the exclusive 
use of Tenant or other tenants or licensees, including, but not limited to, 
parking areas, driveways, sidewalks, loading areas, streets, access roads, 
corridors, landscaping and planted areas.  Tenant shall have the nonexclusive 
right to use the Common Areas for the purposes intended, subject to such 
reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord may uniformly establish from time 
to time and subject to such allocation of parking areas and driveways serving 
the Premises as Landlord shall reasonably determine.  Tenant shall not 
interfere with the rights of any or all of Landlord, other tenants or 
licensees, or any other person entitled to use the Common Areas.   Landlord, 
from time to time, may change any or all of the size, location, nature and use 
of any of the Common Areas although such changes may result in inconvenience 
to Tenant, so long as such changes do not materially and adversely affect 
Tenant's use of the Premises or materially reduce Tenant's parking area.  In 
addition to the foregoing, Landlord may, at any time, close or suspend access 
to any Common Areas to perform any acts in the Common Areas as, in Landlord's 
reasonable judgment, are desirable to improve or maintain the Premises or 
Property or are required in order to satisfy Landlord's obligations under 
either or both of Sections 13.2 and 18; provided, however, that Landlord shall 
use reasonable efforts not to disrupt Tenant's use and operation of the 
Premises in connection therewith.   Landlord's actions shall be undertaken 
following reasonable advance notice to Tenant unless required by reason of 
emergency.  Set forth on the plan attached hereto as Exhibit "B" are the 
designated parking areas for Tenant and for the other tenants of the Property. 
 Tenant shall not use parking facilities at the Property outside of Tenant's 
designated parking area. 
 
    4.3  Signage.  Tenant shall not affix any sign of any size or character to 
any portion of the Property, without prior written approval of Landlord, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  Tenant shall remove 
all signs of Tenant upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease 
and immediately repair any damage to either or both of the Property and the 
Premises caused by, or resulting from, such removal. 
 
    4.4  Security Deposit.  Simultaneously with the execution and delivery of 
this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord or Agent the sum set forth in 
Section 1.9 above, in cash (the "Security"), representing security for the 
performance by Tenant of the covenants and obligations hereunder.  The 
Security shall be held by Landlord or Agent, without interest, in favor of 
Tenant;  provided, however, that no trust relationship shall be deemed created 
thereby and the Security may be commingled with other assets of Landlord.  If 
Tenant defaults in the performance of any of its covenants hereunder, Landlord 
or Agent may, without notice to Tenant, apply all or any part of the Security, 
to the extent required for the payment of any Rent or other sums due from 
Tenant hereunder, in addition to any other remedies available to Landlord.  If 
such application occurs, Landlord shall make a reasonable effort to so advise 
Tenant, in writing, promptly following such application.  In the event the 
Security is so applied, Tenant shall, upon demand, immediately deposit with 
Landlord or Agent a sum equal to the amount so used.  If Tenant fully and 
faithfully complies with all the covenants hereunder, the Security (or any 
balance thereof) shall be returned to Tenant within thirty (30) days after the 
last to occur of (i) the date the Term expires or terminates or (ii) delivery 
to Landlord of possession of the Premises.  Landlord may deliver the Security 
to any purchaser of Landlord's interest in the Premises [or any Successor 
Landlord (defined below), if applicable], and thereupon Landlord and Agent 
shall be discharged from any further liability with respect to the Security. 
 
5.   CONDITION AND DELIVERY OF PREMISES 
 
    5.1  Condition of Premises.  Tenant agrees that Tenant is familiar with 
the condition of the Premises and the Property, and Tenant hereby accepts the 
foregoing on an "AS-IS," "WHERE-IS" basis, subject, nevertheless to 
Landlord's completion of the Work Items, herein defined.  Tenant acknowledges 
that neither Landlord nor Agent nor any representative of Landlord has made 
any representation as to the condition of the foregoing or the suitability of 
the foregoing for Tenant's intended use.  Tenant represents and warrants that 
Tenant has made its own inspection of the foregoing.  Neither Landlord nor 
Agent shall be obligated to make any repairs, replacements or improvements 
(whether structural or otherwise) of any kind or nature to the foregoing in 



connection with, or in consideration of, this Lease, except (a) as set forth 
in Sections 13.2 and 18 and (b) with respect to those improvements expressly 
and specifically described in Exhibit "C" attached hereto ("Work Items"). 
 Landlord agrees to make reasonable efforts to enforce, or cause Agent to 
enforce, upon Tenant's request, all manufacturer's or contractor's warranties, 
if any, issued in connection with any of the Work Items. 
 
    5.2  Delay in Commencement.  Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant if 
Landlord does not deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant on the 
Commencement Date.  The obligations of Tenant under the Lease shall not 
thereby be affected, except that the Commencement Date shall be delayed until 
Landlord delivers possession of the Premises to Tenant, and the Lease Term 
shall be extended by a period equal to the number of days of delay in delivery 
of possession of the Premises to Tenant, plus the number of days necessary to 
end the Lease Term on the last day of a month. 
 
6.   SUBORDINATION; NOTICES TO SUPERIOR LESSORS AND MORTGAGEES; ATTORNMENT 
 
    6.1  Subordination.  Provided that Tenant is provided with a reasonable 
and customary subordination, nondisturbance and attornment agreement duly 
executed by the holder of any mortgage or deed of trust or the landlord 
pursuant to any ground lease, this Lease shall be subject and subordinate at 
all times to all ground leases or underlying leases which may now exist or 
hereafter be executed affecting the Premises and/or the land upon which the 
Premises and Property are situated and to any mortgage or deed of trust which 
may now exist or be placed upon the Property, land, ground leases or 
underlying leases, or Landlord's interest or estate in any of said items, 
which is specified as security.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall 
have the right to subordinate or cause to be subordinated any such ground 
leases or underlying leases or any such liens to this Lease.  Tenant shall 
execute and deliver, upon demand by Landlord and in the form reasonably 
requested by Landlord, any additional documents evidencing the priority of 
subordination of this Lease with respect to any such ground leases or 
underlying leases or any such mortgage or deed of trust.   Landlord represents 
and warrants to Tenant that as of the Commencement Date, there are no 
mortgages, ground leases or underlying leases affecting Landlord's interest in 
the Property. 
 
    6.2  Estoppel Certificates.  Tenant agrees, from time to time and within 
ten (10) days after request by Landlord, to deliver to Landlord, or Landlord's 
designee, an estoppel certificate stating such matters pertaining to this 
Lease as may be reasonably requested by Landlord.  Failure by Tenant to timely 
execute and deliver such certificate shall constitute an acceptance of the 
Premises and acknowledgment by Tenant that the statements included therein are 
true and correct without exception. Landlord and Tenant intend that any 
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statement delivered pursuant to this section may be relied upon by any 
prospective purchaser or mortgagee of the Property or of any interest therein 
or any other Landlord designee. 
 
    6.3  Transfer for Landlord.  In the event of a sale or conveyance by 
Landlord of the Property, the same shall operate to release Landlord from any 
future liability for any of the covenants or conditions, express or implied, 
herein contained in favor of Tenant, and in such event Tenant agrees to look 
solely to Landlord's successor in interest with respect thereto and agrees to 
attorn to such successor. 
 
7.   QUIET ENJOYMENT. 
 
    Subject to the provisions of this Lease, so long as Tenant pays all of the 
Rent and performs all of its other obligations hereunder, Tenant shall not be 
disturbed in its possession of the Premises by Landlord, Agent or any other 
person lawfully claiming through or under Landlord.  This covenant shall be 
construed as a covenant running with the Property and is not a personal 
covenant of Landlord. 
 
 
8.   ASSIGNMENT, SUBLETTING AND MORTGAGING 
 
    8.1  Prohibition.  Tenant acknowledges that this Lease and the Rent due 
under this Lease have been agreed to by Landlord in reliance upon Tenant's 
reputation and creditworthiness and upon the continued operation of the 
Premises by Tenant for the particular use set forth in Section 4 above; 
therefore, Tenant shall not, whether voluntarily, or by operation of law, or 
otherwise:  (a) assign or otherwise transfer this Lease; (b) sublet the 
Premises or any part thereof, or allow the same to be used or occupied by 
anyone other than Tenant; or (c) mortgage, pledge, encumber, or otherwise 
hypothecate this Lease or the Premises, or any part thereof, in any manner 
whatsoever, without in each instance obtaining the prior written consent of 
Landlord, which consent may be given or withheld in Landlord's sole, but 
reasonable, discretion.  Any purported assignment, mortgage, transfer, pledge 
or sublease made without the prior written consent of Landlord shall be 
absolutely null and void.  No assignment of this Lease shall be effective and 
valid unless and until the assignee executes and delivers to Landlord any and 
all documentation reasonably required by Landlord in order to evidence 
assignee's assumption of all obligations of Tenant hereunder.  Any consent by 
Landlord to a particular assignment, sublease or mortgage shall not constitute 
consent or approval of any subsequent assignment, sublease or mortgage, and 
Landlord's written approval shall be required in all such instances.  Any 
consent by Landlord to any assignment or sublease shall not be deemed to 
release Tenant from its obligations hereunder and Tenant shall remain fully 
liable for performance of all obligations under this Lease. 
 
    8.2  Rights of Landlord.  If this Lease is assigned, or if the Premises 
(or any part thereof) are sublet or used or occupied by anyone other than 
Tenant, whether or not in violation of this Lease, Landlord or Agent may 
(without prejudice to, or waiver of its rights), collect Rent from the 
assignee, subtenant or occupant.  Landlord or Agent may apply the net amount 
collected to the Rent herein reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, 
occupancy or collection shall be deemed a waiver of any of the provisions of 
this Section 8.  With respect to the allocable portion of the Premises sublet, 
in the event that the total rent and any other considerations received under 
any sublease by Tenant is greater than the total Rent required to be paid, 
from time to time, under this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord fifty 
percent (50%) of such excess as received from any subtenant and such amount 
shall be deemed a component of the Additional Rent. 
 
    8.3  Permitted Transfers.  The provisions of Section 8.1(a) shall apply to 
a transfer of a majority of the voting stock of Tenant or to any other change 
in voting control of Tenant (if Tenant is a corporation), or to a transfer of 
a majority of the general partnership interests in Tenant or managerial 
control of Tenant (if Tenant is a partnership), or to any comparable 
transaction involving any other form of business entity, whether effectuated 
in one (1) or more transactions, as if such transfer were an assignment of 
this Lease; but said provisions shall not apply to such a transfer (or to a 
transfer arising by reason of a merger or consolidation or the transfer on the 
open market of publicly traded stock), provided, in any of such events, the 
successor to Tenant (or any party remaining liable for the obligations of 
Tenant hereunder) (i) has a net worth at least equal to the net worth of 
Tenant as of the Commencement Date or (ii) is capable of satisfying Tenant's 
obligations hereunder, in Landlord's reasonable judgment.  Any such permitted 
transferee shall execute and deliver to Landlord any and all documentation 
reasonably required by Landlord in order to evidence  assignee's assumption of 
all obligations of Tenant hereunder. 



 
9.   COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 
    9.1  Compliance with Laws.  Tenant shall, at its sole expense (regardless 
of the cost thereof), comply with all local, state and federal laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements now or hereafter in force and all judicial and 
administrative decisions pertaining thereto (collectively, "Laws") 
pertaining to the Premises or Tenant's use thereof, including, without 
limitation, any and all laws pertaining to Hazardous Materials (as hereinafter 
defined) or which otherwise deal with or relate to air or water quality, air 
emissions, soil or ground conditions or other environmental matters of any 
kind (collectively, "Environmental Laws") and the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213, whether or not any of the foregoing 
were in effect at the time of the execution of this Lease.  If any license or 
permit is required for the conduct of Tenant's business in the Premises, 
Tenant, at its expense, shall procure such license prior to the Commencement 
Date, and shall maintain in good standing such license or permit.  Tenant 
shall give prompt notice to Landlord of any written notice it receives of the 
alleged violation of any law or requirement of any governmental or 
administrative authority with respect to the Premises or the use or occupation 
thereof.  The judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction, or the 
admission of Tenant in any action or proceeding against Tenant, whether 
Landlord is a party thereto or not, that any such Law pertaining to the 
Premises has been violated, shall be conclusive of that fact as between 
Landlord and Tenant. 
 
    9.2  Hazardous Materials.  If during the Term (or any extension thereof) 
any Hazardous Material (defined below) is generated, transported, stored, 
used, treated or disposed of at, to, from, on or in the Premises:  (i) Tenant 
shall, at its own cost, at all times comply (and cause all others to comply) 
with all laws (federal, state or local) relating to Hazardous Materials, 
including, but not limited to, all Environmental Laws, and Tenant shall 
further, at its own cost, obtain and maintain in full force and effect at all 
times all permits and other approvals required in connection therewith; (ii) 
Tenant shall promptly provide Landlord or Agent with complete copies of all 
communications, permits or agreements with, from or issued by any governmental 
authority or agency (federal, state or local) or any private entity relating 
in any way to the presence, release, threat of release, or placement of 
Hazardous Materials on or in the Premises or any portion of the Property, or 
the generation, transportation, storage, use, treatment, or disposal at, on, 
in or from the Premises, of any Hazardous Materials; (iii) Landlord, Agent and 
their respective agents and employees shall have the right to enter the 
Premises and/or conduct appropriate tests for the purposes of ascertaining 
Tenant compliance with all applicable laws (including Environmental Laws), 
rules or permits relating in any way to the generation, transport, storage, 
use, treatment, disposal or presence of Hazardous Materials on, at, in or from 
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the Premises, the Property or any portion thereof; and (iv) upon reasonable 
written request by Landlord or Agent, Tenant shall provide Landlord with the 
results of appropriate tests of air, water or soil to demonstrate that Tenant 
complies with all applicable laws, rules or permits relating in any way to the 
generation, transport, storage, use, treatment, disposal or presence of 
Hazardous Materials on, at, in or from the Property or any portion thereof. 
This Section 9.2 does not authorize the generation, transportation, storage, 
use, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials at, to, from, on or in 
the Premises in contravention of this Section 9.  Tenant covenants to 
investigate, clean up and otherwise remediate any release of Hazardous 
Materials caused, contributed to or created by Tenant or any of Tenant's 
Parties at its sole expense.  If any such investigation clean-up or 
remediation extends beyond the Expiration Date, Tenant shall be deemed a 
tenant at will under the second sentence of Section 20 and shall be subject to 
clauses (a) through (d) of such second sentence.  Such investigation and 
remediation shall be performed only after Tenant has obtained Landlord's prior 
written consent; provided, however, that Tenant shall be entitled to respond 
immediately to an emergency without first obtaining such consent.  All 
remediation shall be performed in strict compliance with Environmental Laws 
and to the satisfaction of Landlord.  Tenant shall be liable for any and all 
conditions covered hereby, and for all costs relating thereto, which were 
caused or created by Tenant or any of Tenant's Parties.  Tenant shall not 
enter into any settlement agreement, consent decree or other compromise with 
respect to any claims relating to any Hazardous Materials in any way connected 
to the Premises without first obtaining Landlord's written consent and 
affording Landlord the reasonable opportunity to participate in any such 
proceedings.  As used herein, the term "Hazardous Materials" shall mean any 
waste, material or substance (whether in the form of liquids, solids or gases, 
and whether or not air-borne) which is or may be deemed to be or include a 
pesticide, petroleum, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl, radioactive 
material, urea formaldehyde or any other pollutant or contaminant which is or 
may be deemed to be hazardous, toxic, ignitable, reactive, corrosive, 
dangerous, harmful or injurious, or which presents a risk to public health or 
to the environment, and which is or becomes regulated by any Environmental 
Law. 
 
    9.3  Tenant acknowledges that a portion of the Premises has been improved 
with floor tiling containing asbestos.  Landlord and Tenant agree that 
Landlord shall install new vinyl tile upon the existing tiling as part of the 
Work Items (as defined in Exhibit "C" hereto).  Prior to the Commencement 
Date, Tenant shall adopt an operations and maintenance plan reasonably 
satisfactory to Landlord respecting Tenant's use of that portion of the 
Premises improved with the floor tiling containing asbestos.  Provided 
Tenant's use and operations in the Premises are consistent with the approved 
plan and Tenant's operations do not result in any disturbance of the existing 
tile, Landlord agrees to be responsible for any claims, demands or liabilities 
arising by reason of the continued existence of the existing floor tile in the 
Premises and for the expense of removing the existing floor tile if such 
removal is mandated by a legal requirement not related to the disturbance of 
the existing tile.  If Tenant's use or operations in the Premises shall result 
in the disturbance of the existing tile, then Tenant shall be responsible for 
any claims, liabilities or demands arising from such disturbance and shall 
take appropriate remediation measures relating to such disturbance.   If, 
however, the new vinyl tile installed upon the existing tile shall require 
replacement because of ordinary wear and tear (as opposed to disturbance due 
to Tenant's use or operations), then in connection with the reflooring of the 
Premises, Landlord and Tenant shall each pay one-half of the expense 
attributable to removal of the existing tile.  If as a result of casualty loss 
the existing floor tile is required to be removed, then Landlord shall be 
responsible for such removal.   The determinations of whether or not the 
existing floor tile is required to be removed, and the extent to which it is 
removed, shall be made through agreement by Landlord and Tenant, each 
exercising its reasonable judgment.  In the event the parties are unable to 
agree, then the determination shall be made in an arbitration conducted by a 
single arbiter who is an expert in the subject matter of the dispute.  The 
arbiter shall be selected jointly by Landlord and Tenant (or, failing 
agreement, selected by each party's selected expert).  The decision of the 
arbiter shall be final and the costs of the arbitration shall be borne equally 
by Landlord and Tenant. 
 
    9.4  ISRA.  Tenant represents and warrants that Tenant's SIC (Standard 
Industrial Classification) number as designated in the Standard Industrial 
Classification System Manual prepared by the Office of Management and Budget, 
and as set forth in Section 1.15 hereof, is correct.  Tenant represents that 
the specific activities intended to be carried on in the Premises are in 
accordance with Section 1.7 and Tenant covenants and agrees that it will not 
do or suffer anything which will cause its SIC number (or that of any assignee 
or subtenant) to fall within any of the following "major group" 



classifications of SIC numbers during the Term (and any exercised renewal 
term) hereof:  22 through 29 inclusive, 46 through 49 inclusive, 51 and 76 
(together the "Covered Numbers").  Tenant further covenants and agrees to 
notify Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior to any change of facts which 
would result in the change of Tenant's SIC number from its present number to 
any of the covered Numbers.  Upon such notice, Landlord shall have the right, 
at its option, to terminate this Lease within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
such notice by notifying Tenant in writing. 
 
    If Tenant's operations at the Premises now or hereafter constitute an 
"Industrial Establishment" subject to the requirements of ISRA, then prior 
to:  (1) closing operations or transferring ownership or operations of Tenant 
at the Premises (as defined under ISRA), (2) the expiration or sooner 
termination of this Lease, or (3) any assignment of this Lease or any 
subletting of any portion of the Premises; Tenant shall, at its expense, 
comply with all requirements of ISRA pertaining thereto.  Without limitation 
of the foregoing, Tenant's obligations shall include (i) the proper filing of 
an initial notice under N.J.S.A. 13:1K-9(a) to the NJDEP and (ii) the 
performance of all remediation and other requirements of ISRA, including 
without limitation all requirements of N.J.S.A. 13:1K-9(b-l).  In addition, 
upon written request of Landlord, Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord in 
obtaining approval under Environmental Laws of any transfer of the Building. 
Specifically in that regard, Tenant agrees that it shall (1) execute and 
deliver all affidavits, reports, responses to questions, applications or other 
filings required by Landlord and related to Tenant's activities at the 
Premises, (2) allow inspections and testing of the Premises during normal 
business hours, and (3) as respects the Premises, perform any requirement 
reasonably requested by Landlord necessary for the receipt of approvals under 
Environmental Laws, provided the foregoing shall be at no out-of-pocket cost 
or expense to Tenant except for clean-up and remediation costs arising from 
Tenant's violation of this Section. 
 
    If Tenant is not obligated to comply with ISRA, then, prior to the 
expiration or sooner termination of this Lease or any assignment or subletting 
of any portion of the Premises, Tenant shall, at Tenant's expense, and at 
Landlord's option:  (i) Obtain from the NJDEP a "non-applicability letter" 
confirming that the proposed termination, assignment or subletting shall not 
be subject to the requirements of ISRA.  Any representation or certification 
made by Tenant in connection with the non-applicability letter request shall 
constitute a representation and warranty by Tenant in favor of Landlord and 
any misrepresentation or breach of warranty contained in Tenant's request 
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shall constitute a default under this Lease; and (ii) If reasonably indicated 
by a reputable environmental consultant engaged by Landlord, at Landlord's 
expense, Tenant shall remove "hazardous waste" or "hazardous waste" 
attributable to Tenant's occupancy at the Premises in a manner which complies 
with NJDEP requirements under ISRA, at Tenant's expense, as if ISRA applied to 
Tenant and/or the Premises. 
 
    In the event Tenant is obligated, under this Section or otherwise, to 
perform and/or cooperate in performing any ISRA obligations and/or obtain 
and/or cooperate in obtaining any ISRA approval, by way of a non-applicability 
letter, "negative declaration", the performance of an approved remedial 
action work plan, the obtaining of a no further action letter, the performance 
under a remediation agreement and/or otherwise (collectively the "ISRA 
Obligations") and, prior to fully performing such ISRA Obligations, there 
occurs the scheduled expiration of the Term of this Lease or any other 
termination of this Lease (collectively, a "Lease Termination"), and in the 
event (i) Landlord is obligated to deliver possession to a new tenant and (ii) 
Landlord is prevented from being able to deliver lawful possession because of 
such failure of Tenant to fully perform same, then Tenant shall, following 
such Lease Termination be deemed to be a holdover Tenant subject to the 
provisions of Section 20 hereof, until such time as Tenant has complied with 
the ISRA obligations. 
 
10.  INSURANCE 
 
    10.1  Insurance to be Maintained by Landlord.  Landlord shall maintain (a) 
"all-risk" property insurance covering the Property (at its full replacement 
cost), but excluding Tenant's Property, and (b) commercial general public 
liability insurance covering Landlord for claims arising out of liability for 
bodily injury, death, personal injury, advertising injury and property damage 
occurring in and about the Property, and otherwise resulting from any acts and 
operations of Landlord, its agents and employees, and (c) rent loss insurance 
(collectively, "Landlord's Policies"), all of the above with limits that are 
required by any lender(s) of Landlord, or as are otherwise reasonably 
determined by Landlord. 
 
    10.2  Liability Insurance.  Tenant shall purchase at its own expense and 
keep in force during this Lease a policy or policies of (i) commercial general 
liability insurance, including personal injury and property damage, in the 
amount of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) per occurrence and 
Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00) annual general aggregate per location, 
and comprehensive automobile liability insurance covering Tenant against any 
losses arising out of liability for personal injuries or deaths of persons and 
property damage occurring in or about the Premises and Property and (ii) 
"all-risk" property insurance covering Tenant's property (and otherwise 
resulting from any acts or operations of Tenant).  Said policies shall (a) 
name Landlord, Agent, and any party holding an interest to which this Lease 
may be subordinated as additional insureds, (b) be issued by an insurance 
company with a Best rating of A-X or better and otherwise reasonably 
acceptable to Landlord and licensed to do business in the state in which the 
Property is located, (c) provide that said insurance shall not be canceled or 
materially modified unless thirty (30) days' prior written notice shall have 
been given to Landlord, (d) provide coverage on an occurrence basis; (e) 
provide coverage for the indemnity obligations of Tenant under this Lease; (f) 
contain a severability of insured parties provision and a cross liability 
endorsement; (g) be primary, not contributing with, and not in excess of 
coverage which Landlord may carry; (h) a hostile fire endorsement; and (i) 
otherwise be in such form and include such coverages as Landlord may 
reasonably require.  Said policy or policies or, at Landlord's option, 
Certificate of Insurance on the so-called "ACORD" Form 27 evidencing said 
policies, shall be delivered to Landlord by Tenant upon commencement of the 
Lease and renewals thereof shall be delivered at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the expiration of said insurance. 
 
    10.3  Waiver of Subrogation.  To the extent permitted by law, and without 
affecting the coverage provided by insurance required to be maintained 
hereunder, Landlord and Tenant each waive any right to recover against the 
other for (a) damages for injury to or death of persons, (b) damages to 
property, (c) damages to the Premises or any part thereof or (d) claims 
arising by reason of the foregoing, to the extent such damages and claims are 
insured against or required to be insured against by Landlord or Tenant under 
this Lease. This provision is intended to waive, fully and for the benefit of 
each party, any rights and/or claims which might give rise to a right of 
subrogation by any insurance carrier.  The coverage obtained by each party 
pursuant to this Lease shall include, without limitation, a waiver of 
subrogation by the carrier which conforms to the provisions of this section. 
 
11.  ALTERATIONS 



 
    11.1  Procedural Requirements.  Tenant may, from time to time, at its 
expense, make alterations or improvements in and to the Premises (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as "Alterations"), provided that Tenant first 
obtains the written consent of Landlord in each instance.  Landlord's consent 
to Alterations shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided that:  (a) the 
Alterations are non-structural and the structural integrity of the Property 
shall not be affected; (b) the Alterations are to the interior of the 
Premises; (c) the proper functioning of the mechanical, electrical, heating, 
ventilating, air-conditioning ("HVAC"), sanitary and other service systems 
of the Property shall not be affected and the usage of such systems by Tenant 
shall not be increased; (d) the Alterations have no adverse effect on other 
leased premises in the Property; (e) Tenant shall have appropriate insurance 
coverage, reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, regarding the performance and 
installation of the Alterations; (f) the Alterations shall conform with all 
other requirements of this Lease; and (g) Tenant shall have provided Landlord 
with reasonably detailed plans (the "Plans") for such Alterations in advance 
of requesting Landlord's consent.  Additionally, before proceeding with any 
Alterations, Tenant shall (i) at Tenant's expense, obtain all necessary 
governmental permits and certificates for the commencement and prosecution of 
Alterations; (ii) submit to Agent, for Landlord's written approval, working 
drawings, plans and specifications and all permits for the work to be done and 
Tenant shall not proceed with such Alterations until it has received said 
approval; and (iii) cause those contractors, materialmen and suppliers engaged 
to perform the Alterations to deliver to Landlord certificates of insurance 
(on the so-called "ACORD" Form 27) evidencing policies of commercial general 
liability insurance (providing the same coverages as required in Section 
10.2(i) above) and workers compensation insurance.  Such insurance policies 
shall satisfy the obligations imposed under Section 10.2(a) through (d), (f), 
(g) and (h).  After obtaining Landlord's approval to the Alterations, Tenant 
shall give Landlord at least five (5) days' prior written notice of the 
commencement of any Alterations at the Premises, and Landlord may elect to 
record and post notices of non-responsibility at the Premises. 
 
    11.2  Performance of Alterations.  Tenant shall cause the Alterations to 
be performed in compliance with all applicable permits, laws and requirements 
of public authorities, and with Landlord's reasonable rules and regulations or 
any other restrictions that Landlord or Agent may impose on the Alterations. 
Tenant shall cause the Alterations to be diligently performed in a good and 
workmanlike manner, using new materials and equipment at least equal in 
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quality and class to the standards for the Property established by  Landlord 
or Agent.  Tenant shall obtain all necessary permits and certificates for 
final governmental approval of the Alterations and shall provide Landlord with 
"as built" plans, copies of all construction contracts, governmental permits 
and certificates and proof of payment for all labor and materials, including, 
without limitation, copies of paid invoices and final lien waivers. 
 
    11.3  Lien Prohibition.  Tenant shall pay when due all claims for labor 
and material furnished to the Premises in connection with the Alterations. 
Tenant shall not permit any mechanics or materialmen's liens to attach to the 
Premises, the Property, or Tenant's leasehold estate.  Tenant, at its expense, 
shall procure the satisfaction or discharge of record of all such liens and 
encumbrances within thirty (30) days after the filing thereof; or, if 
acceptable to Landlord, in its reasonable determination, Tenant may procure 
(for Landlord's benefit) a bond or other protection against any such lien or 
encumbrance.  In the event Tenant has not so performed, Landlord may, at its 
option, pay and discharge such liens and Tenant shall be responsible to 
reimburse Landlord, on demand and as Additional Rent under this Lease, for all 
costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, together with interest 
thereon at the rate set forth in Section 22.3 below, which expenses shall 
include reasonable fees of attorneys of Landlord's choosing, and any costs in 
posting bond to effect discharge or release of the lien as an encumbrance 
against the Premises or the Property. 
 
12.  LANDLORD'S AND TENANT'S PROPERTY 
 
    12.1  Landlord's Property.  Subject to Section 12.2 below, all fixtures, 
machinery, equipment, improvements and appurtenances attached to, or built 
into, the Premises at the commencement of, or during the Term, whether or not 
placed there by or at the expense of Tenant, shall become and remain a part of 
the Premises; shall be deemed the property of Landlord (the "Landlord's 
Property"), without compensation or credit to Tenant; and shall not be 
removed by Tenant unless Landlord requests their removal.   All Work Items 
shall be deemed to be Landlord's Property, provided Tenant shall not be 
obligated to remove any part of the Work Items other than the office 
improvements depicted in the "Removal Area" as shown on the plan attached 
hereto as Exhibit "D", which Work Items shall be removed by Tenant prior to 
the expiration of the Term unless Landlord otherwise directs in writing. 
Further, any personal property in the Premises on the Commencement Date, 
movable or otherwise, unless installed and paid for by Tenant, shall be and 
shall remain the property of Landlord and shall not be removed by Tenant.  In 
no event shall Tenant remove any of the following materials or equipment 
without Landlord's prior written consent:  any power wiring or power panels, 
lighting or lighting fixtures, wall or window coverings, carpets or other 
floor coverings, heaters, air conditioners or any other HVAC equipment, 
fencing or security gates, or other similar building operating equipment and 
decorations. 
 
    12.2  Tenant's Property.  All movable non-structural partitions, business 
and trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, communications equipment and 
office equipment, that are installed in the Premises by, or for the account 
of, Tenant without expense to Landlord and that can be removed without 
structural damage to the Property, and all furniture, furnishings and other 
articles of movable personal property owned by Tenant and located in the 
Premises (collectively, the "Tenant's Property") shall be and shall remain 
the property of Tenant and may be removed by Tenant at any time during the 
Term, provided Tenant repairs or pays the cost of repairing any damage to the 
Premises or to the Property resulting from the installation and/or removal 
thereof.  At or before the Expiration Date, or the date of any earlier 
termination, Tenant, at its expense, shall remove from the Premises all of 
Tenant's Property and any Alterations (except such items thereof as Landlord 
shall have expressly permitted, in writing, to remain, which property shall 
become the property of Landlord), and Tenant shall repair any damage to the 
Premises or the Property resulting from any installation and/or removal of 
Tenant's Property.  Any other items of Tenant's Property that shall remain in 
the Premises after the Expiration Date, or following an earlier termination 
date, may, at the option of Landlord, be deemed to have been abandoned, and in 
such case, such items may be retained by Landlord as its property or be 
disposed of by Landlord, in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion and 
without accountability, at Tenant's expense.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if Tenant is in default under the terms of this Lease, it may remove Tenant's 
Property from the Premises only upon the express written direction of 
Landlord. 
 
13.  REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 
 
    13.1  Tenant Repairs and Maintenance.  Tenant shall, at its expense, 
throughout the Term, (i) maintain and preserve, in first-class condition 



(subject to normal and customary wear and tear), the Premises and the fixtures 
and appurtenances therein (including, but not limited to, the Premises' 
plumbing and HVAC systems, all doors, overhead or otherwise, glass and 
levelers located in the Premises or otherwise available in the Property for 
Tenant's sole use; and excluding, however, those components of the Premises 
for which Landlord is expressly responsible under Section 13.2); and (ii) 
maintain, in full force and effect, a preventative maintenance and service 
contract with a reputable service provider for maintenance of the HVAC systems 
of the Premises.  Tenant shall also be responsible for all cost and expenses 
incurred to perform any and all repairs and replacements (whether structural 
or non-structural; interior or exterior; and ordinary or extraordinary), in 
and to the Premises and the Property and the facilities and systems thereof, 
if and to the extent that the need for such repairs or replacements arises 
directly or indirectly from (a) the performance or existence of any 
Alterations, (b) the installation, use or operation of Tenant's Property in 
the Premises, (c) the moving of Tenant's Property in or out of the Property, 
or (d) any act, omission, misuse, or neglect of Tenant, any of its subtenants, 
or others entering into the Premises by act or omission of Tenant or any 
subtenant.  Any repairs or replacements required to be made by Tenant to any 
or all of the structural components of the Property and the mechanical, 
electrical, sanitary, HVAC, or other systems of the Property or Premises shall 
be performed by appropriately licensed contractors approved by Landlord, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  All such repairs or replacements 
shall be subject to the supervision and control of Landlord, and all repairs 
and replacements shall be made with materials of equal or better quality than 
the items being repaired or replaced. 
 
    13.2  Landlord Repairs.  Notwithstanding anything contrary herein, 
Landlord shall repair, replace and restore the foundation, exterior and 
interior load-bearing walls, roof structure, and roof covering of the 
Property; provided, however, that (i) all costs and expenses so incurred by 
Landlord to repair, replace and restore the above items shall (except as 
provided below) constitute Operating Expenses; and (ii) notwithstanding (i) 
above, in the event that any such repair, replacement or restoration is 
necessitated by any or all of the matters set forth in Clauses 13.1(a), (b), 
(c) or (d) [collectively, "Tenant Necessitated Repairs"], then Tenant shall 
be required to reimburse Landlord for all costs and expenses that Landlord 
incurs in order to perform such Tenant Necessitated Repairs, and such 
reimbursement shall be paid, in full, within ten (10) days after Landlord's 
delivery of demand therefor.  Landlord agrees to commence the repairs, 
replacements or restoration described in this Section 13.2 within a reasonable 
period of time after receiving from Tenant written notice of the need for such 
repairs.   Prior to the Commencement Date, Landlord shall, at its sole cost 
and expense, replace that portion of the roof over the original office portion 
of the Premises and perform necessary maintenance and code compliance work for 
that portion of the roof over the office addition of the Premises, as those 
areas are depicted in Exhibit "E" attached hereto and made a part hereof. 
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Additionally, Landlord shall cause to be performed at no cost to Tenant those 
items of maintenance and repair work set forth in the April 3, 2000 letter 
from Hodder's Heating/Air Conditioning Inc. relating to the HVAC units serving 
the Premises.  Landlord further agrees to replace the roof to the production 
area of the Premises, in 25% area increments, as shown on Exhibit "E" such 
replacement to commence in the third Lease year and to be undertaken in 
increments as aforesaid every other year thereafter (such schedule to be 
subject to acceleration at Landlord's discretion or to adjustment upon mutual 
agreement of Landlord and Tenant).  The cost of replacement of the production 
area roof shall constitute an Operating Expense. 
 
    13.3.  Common Area Maintenance.  Landlord shall keep and maintain the 
Common Areas including landscape maintenance and snow removal as required, the 
cost of such services being included as Operating Expenses.  Tenant 
acknowledges that portions of the Common Areas comprising the streets and 
access roads are to be maintained by an Owner's Association in which Landlord 
is a member and that such association shall be responsible for maintenance and 
repairs.  Association assessments for such services are included in Operating 
Expenses. 
 
14.  UTILITIES. 
 
    Tenant shall purchase all utility services from the utility or 
municipality providing such service; shall provide for scavenger, cleaning and 
extermination services; and shall pay for such services when payments are due. 
 Tenant shall be solely responsible for the repair and maintenance of any 
meters necessary in connection with such services.  Tenant's use of electrical 
energy in the Premises shall not, at any time, exceed the capacity of either 
or both of (i) any of the electrical conductors and equipment in or otherwise 
servicing the Premises; and (ii) the HVAC systems of either or both of the 
Premises and the Property. 
 
15.  INVOLUNTARY CESSATION OF SERVICES. 
 
    Landlord reserves the right, without any liability to Tenant and without 
affecting Tenant's covenants and obligations hereunder, to stop service of the 
HVAC, electric, sanitary, elevator (if any), or other systems serving the 
Premises, or to stop any other services required by Landlord under this Lease, 
whenever and for so long as may be necessary by reason of (i) accidents, 
emergencies, strikes, or the making of repairs or changes which Landlord or 
Agent in good faith deems necessary or (ii) any other cause beyond Landlord's 
reasonable control.  Landlord agrees to provide Tenant with reasonable prior 
notice of such stoppage unless the cause of the stoppage is an emergency. 
Further, it is also understood and agreed that Landlord or Agent shall have no 
liability or responsibility for a cessation of services to the Premises or to 
the Property that occurs as a result of causes beyond Landlord's or Agent's 
reasonable control.  No such interruption of service shall be deemed an 
eviction or disturbance of Tenant's use and possession of the Premises or any 
part thereof, or render Landlord or Agent liable to Tenant for damages, or 
relieve Tenant from performance of Tenant's obligations under this Lease, 
including, but not limited to, the obligation to pay Rent; provided, however, 
that if any interruption of services persists for a period in excess of five 
(5) consecutive business days Tenant shall, as Tenant's sole remedy, be 
entitled to a proportional abatement of Rent to the extent, if any, of any 
actual loss of use of the Premises by Tenant.16.  LANDLORD'S RIGHTS. 
Landlord, Agent and their respective agents, employees and representatives 
shall have the right to enter and/or pass through the Premises at any time or 
times upon reasonable prior notice (except in the event of emergency):  (a) to 
examine and inspect the Premises and to show them to actual and prospective 
lenders, prospective purchasers or mortgagees of the Property or providers of 
capital to Landlord and its affiliates; and (b) to make such repairs, 
alterations, additions and improvements in or to the Premises and/or in or to 
the Property or its facilities and equipment as Landlord is required or 
desires to make.  Landlord and Agent shall be allowed to take all materials 
into and upon the Premises that may be required in connection with any 
repairs, alterations, additions or improvements, without any liability to 
Tenant and without any reduction or modification of Tenant's covenants and 
obligations hereunder; provided, however, that Landlord shall use reasonable 
efforts to avoid interference with Tenant's business operations and Tenant's 
occupancy and use of the Premises.  During the period of six (6) months prior 
to the Expiration Date (or at any time, if Tenant has vacated or abandoned the 
Premises or is otherwise in default under this Lease), Landlord and its agents 
may exhibit the Premises to prospective tenants.  Additionally, Landlord and 
Agent shall have the following rights exercisable, without notice to Tenant, 
without liability to Tenant, and without being deemed an eviction or 
disturbance of Tenant's use or possession of the Premises or giving rise to 
any claim for setoff or abatement of Rent:  (i) to designate and approve, 
prior to installation, all types of signs; (ii) to have pass keys, access 



cards, or both, to the Premises; and (iii) to decorate, remodel, repair, alter 
or otherwise prepare the Premises for reoccupancy at any time after Tenant 
vacates or abandons the Premises for more than thirty (30) consecutive days or 
with no intention of reoccupying the Premises. 
 
17.  NON-LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 
    17.1  Non-Liability.  Except as provided in Section 17.2.2, none of 
Landlord, Agent, any other managing agent, or their respective affiliates, 
owners, partners, directors, officers, agents and employees shall be liable to 
Tenant for any loss, injury, or damage, to Tenant or to any other person, or 
to its or their property, irrespective of the cause of such injury, damage or 
loss.  Further, except as provided in Section 17.2.2, none of Landlord, Agent, 
any other managing agent, or their respective partners, directors, officers, 
agents and employees shall be liable (a) for any damage caused by other 
tenants or persons in, upon or about the Property, or caused by operations in 
construction of any public or quasi-public work; (b) with respect to matters 
for which Landlord is liable, for consequential or indirect damages 
purportedly arising out of any loss of use of the Premises or any equipment or 
facilities therein by Tenant or any person claiming through or under Tenant; 
(c) any latent defect in the Premises or the Property; (d) injury or damage to 
person or property caused by fire, or theft, or resulting from the operation 
of heating or air conditioning or lighting apparatus, or from falling plaster, 
or from steam, gas, electricity, water, rain, snow, ice, or dampness, that may 
leak or flow from any part of the Property, or from the pipes, appliances or 
plumbing work of the same. 
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    17.2  Indemnification. 
 
         17.2.1 Tenant Indemnification.  Tenant hereby indemnifies, defends, 
and holds Landlord, Agent and their respective affiliates, owners, partners, 
directors, officers, agents and employees (collectively, "Landlord 
Indemnified Parties") harmless from and against any and all Losses (defined 
below) arising from or in connection with (a) the conduct or management of 
either or both the Property and the Premises or any business therein, or any 
work or Alterations done, or any condition created (other than by Landlord) in 
or about the Premises during the Term or during the period of time, if any, 
prior to the Commencement Date that Tenant may have been given access to the 
Premises; (b) any act, omission or negligence of Tenant or Tenant's Persons; 
(c) any accident, injury or damage whatsoever (unless caused by Landlord's 
negligence) occurring in, at or upon either or both of the Property and the 
Premises; (d) any breach by Tenant of any of its warranties and 
representations under this Lease; (e) any actions necessary to protect 
Landlord's interest under this Lease in a bankruptcy proceeding or other 
proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code; (f) any violation or alleged violation 
by Tenant of any Law including, without limitation, any Environmental Law; (g) 
any breach of the provisions of Article 9 by Tenant or any of Tenant's 
Parties; (h) any Hazardous Use on, about or from the Premises or the Property 
of any Hazardous Materials; (i) claims for work or labor performed or 
materials supplies furnished to or at the request of Tenant; and (j) claims 
arising from any breach or default on the part of Tenant in the performance of 
any covenant contained in this Lease (collectively, "Tenant's Indemnified 
Matters").  In case any action or proceeding is brought against any or all of 
Landlord and the Landlord Indemnified Parties by reason of any of Tenant's 
Indemnified Matters, Tenant, upon notice from any or all of Landlord, Agent or 
any Superior Party (defined below), shall resist and defend such action or 
proceeding by counsel reasonably satisfactory to, or selected by, Landlord. 
The term "Losses" shall mean all claims, demands, expenses, actions, 
judgments, damages (whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, foreseen or 
unforeseen), penalties, fines, liabilities, losses of every kind and nature 
(including, without limitation, property damage, diminution in value of 
Landlord's interest in the Premises or the Property, damages for the loss or 
restriction on use of any space or amenity within the Premises or the 
Property, damages arising from any adverse impact on marketing space in the 
Property, sums paid in settlement of claims and any costs and expenses 
associated with injury, illness or death to or of any person), suits, 
administrative proceedings, costs and fees, including, without limitation, 
attorneys' and consultants' fees and expenses, and the costs of cleanup, 
remediation, removal and restoration, that are in any way related to any 
matter covered by the foregoing indemnity.  The provisions of this Section 
shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. 
 
         17.2.2 Landlord Indemnification.  Landlord hereby indemnifies, 
defends and holds Tenant harmless from and against any and all claims, losses, 
costs, damages (actual, but not consequential or speculative), judgments, 
causes of action, administrative proceedings and third party expenses 
(including, but not limited to, court costs and attorneys' reasonable fees) 
actually suffered or incurred by Tenant as the sole and direct result of any 
negligent, willful or intentional acts or omissions of any or all of Landlord, 
Agent and any parties within the direct and sole control of either of Landlord 
or Agent.  In the event that any action or proceeding is brought against 
Tenant, and the foregoing indemnity is applicable to such action or 
proceeding, then Landlord, upon notice from Tenant, shall resist and defend 
such action or proceeding by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Tenant. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, however, in 
all events and under all circumstances, the liability of Landlord to Tenant 
shall be limited to the interest of Landlord in the Property, and Tenant 
agrees to look solely to Landlord's interest in the Property for the recovery 
of any judgment or award against Landlord, it being intended that Landlord 
shall not be personally liable for any judgment or deficiency.  The provisions 
of this Section 17.2.2 shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Lease. 
 
    17.3  Force Majeure.  The obligations of Tenant hereunder shall not be 
affected, impaired or excused, and Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever 
to Tenant, with respect to any act, event or circumstance arising out of (a) 
Landlord's failure to fulfill, or delay in fulfilling any of its obligations 
under this Lease by reason of labor dispute, governmental preemption of 
property in connection with a public emergency or shortages of fuel, supplies, 
or labor, or any other cause, whether similar or dissimilar, beyond Landlord's 
reasonable control; or (b) any failure or defect in the supply, quantity or 
character of utilities furnished to the Premises, or by reason of any 
requirement, act or omission of any public utility or others serving the 
Property, beyond Landlord's reasonable control. 
 



    17.4  Liability Limitation.  Tenant shall look solely to Landlord's 
interest in the Premises and Property for the satisfaction of any claim, 
liability, loss, recovery or judgment against Landlord.  Landlord shall not 
have any personal liability with respect to any provisions of this Lease, or 
the Premises or Property.  The liability of Landlord to Tenant shall be 
limited to Landlord's interest in the Premises and Property. 
 
18.  DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION 
 
    18.1  Notification and Repair.  Tenant shall give prompt notice to 
Landlord and Agent of (a) any fire or other casualty to the Premises or the 
Property, and (b) any damage to or defect in any part or appurtenance of the 
Property's sanitary, electrical, HVAC, elevator or other systems located in or 
passing through the Premises or any part thereof.  Subject to the provisions 
of Section 18.3 below, if the Property or the Premises is damaged by fire or 
other insured casualty, Landlord shall repair (or cause Agent to repair) the 
damage and restore and rebuild the Property and/or the Premises (except for 
Tenant's Property) with reasonable dispatch after (x) notice to it of the 
damage or destruction and (y) the adjustment of the insurance proceeds 
attributable to such damage.  Subject to the provisions of Section 18.3 below, 
Tenant shall not be entitled to terminate this Lease and no damages, 
compensation or claim shall be payable by Landlord for purported 
inconvenience, loss of business or annoyance arising from any repair or 
restoration of any portion of the Premises or of the Property pursuant to this 
Section.  Landlord (or Agent, as the case may be) shall use its diligent, good 
faith efforts to make such repair or restoration promptly and in such manner 
as not to unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use and occupancy of the 
Premises, but Landlord or Agent shall not be required to do such repair or 
restoration work except during normal business hours of business days. 
 
    18.2  Rental Abatement.  If (a) the Property is damaged by fire or other 
casualty thereby causing the Premises to be inaccessible or (b) the Premises 
are partially damaged by fire or other casualty, the Rent shall be 
proportionally abated to the extent of any actual loss of use of the Premises 
by Tenant. 
 
    18.3  Total Destruction.  If the Property or the Premises shall be totally 
destroyed by fire or other casualty, or if the Property shall be so damaged by 
fire or other casualty that (in the opinion of a reputable contractor or 
architect designated by Landlord) (i) its repair or restoration requires more 
than one hundred eighty (180) days or (ii) such repair or restoration requires 
the expenditure of more than fifty percent (50%) of the full insurable value 
of the Property immediately prior to the casualty or (iii) the damage (x) is 
less than the amount stated in (ii) above, but more than ten percent (10%) of 
the full insurable value of the Property; and (y) occurs during the last two 
(2) years of Lease Term, Landlord and Tenant shall each have the option to 
terminate this Lease (by so advising the other, in writing) within ten (10) 
days after said contractor or architect delivers written notice of its opinion 
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to Landlord and Tenant, but in all events prior to the commencement of any 
restoration of the Premises or the Property by Landlord.   Landlord shall 
cause such opinion to be rendered within forty-five (45) days of the casualty. 
In such event, the termination shall be effective as of the date upon which 
either Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be, receives timely written notice 
from the other terminating this Lease pursuant to the preceding sentence.  If 
neither Landlord nor Tenant timely delivers a termination notice, this Lease 
shall remain in full force and effect.  If (A) any holder of a mortgage or 
deed of trust encumbering the Property or landlord pursuant to a ground lease 
encumbering the Property (collectively, "Superior Parties") or other party 
entitled to the insurance proceeds fails to make such proceeds available to 
Landlord in an amount sufficient for restoration of the Premises or the 
Property, or (B) the issuer of any casualty insurance policies on the Property 
fails to make available to Landlord sufficient proceeds for restoration of the 
Premises or the Property, then Landlord may, at Landlord's sole option, 
terminate this Lease by giving Tenant written notice to such effect within 
thirty (30) days after Landlord receives notice from the Superior Party or 
insurance company, as the case may be, that such proceeds shall not be made 
available, in which event the termination of this Lease shall be effective as 
of the date Tenant receives written notice from Landlord of Landlord's 
election to terminate this Lease.  For purposes of this Section 18.3 only, 
"full insurable value" shall mean replacement cost, less the cost of 
footings, foundations and other structures below grade. 
 
19.  EMINENT DOMAIN. 
 
    If the whole, or any substantial portion, of the Property is taken or 
condemned for any public use under any Law or by right of eminent domain, or 
by private purchase in lieu thereof, and such taking would prevent or 
materially interfere with the Permitted Use of the Premises, this Lease shall 
terminate effective when the physical taking of said Premises occurs.  If less 
than a substantial portion of the Property is so taken or condemned, or if the 
taking or condemnation is temporary (regardless of the portion of the Property 
affected), this Lease shall not terminate, but the Rent payable hereunder 
shall be proportionally abated to the extent of any actual loss of use of the 
Premises by Tenant.  Landlord shall be entitled to any and all payment, 
income, rent or award, or any interest therein whatsoever, which may be paid 
or made in connection with such a taking or conveyance, and Tenant shall have 
no claim against Landlord for the value of any unexpired portion of this 
Lease.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any compensation specifically awarded 
to Tenant for loss of business or goodwill, or for its personal property, 
shall be the property of Tenant. 
 
20.  SURRENDER AND HOLDOVER 
 
    On the last day of the Term, or upon any earlier termination of this 
Lease, or upon any re-entry by Landlord upon the Premises, (a) Tenant shall 
quit and surrender the Premises to Landlord "broom-clean" and in good order, 
condition and repair, except for ordinary wear and tear and such damage or 
destruction as Landlord is required to repair or restore under this Lease, and 
(b) Tenant shall remove all of Tenant's Property therefrom, except as 
otherwise expressly provided in this Lease.  The obligations imposed under the 
preceding sentence shall survive the termination or expiration of this Lease. 
 If any repairs are required to be performed in, to or at the Premises 
(pursuant to the preceding sentence or any other applicable provision of this 
Lease) upon the expiration or termination of the Term, Tenant shall cause such 
repairs to be performed, to Landlord's reasonable satisfaction, within ten 
(10) business days after the date on which this Lease is terminated or 
expired.  If Tenant fails to timely comply with the preceding sentence, then 
Landlord shall have the right to cause the repairs to be performed, at 
Tenant's expense, and all such expenses so incurred by Landlord shall bear 
interest (at the rate specified in the second sentence of subsection 22.3) 
from the date the expense is incurred until the date paid, in full, by Tenant 
(inclusive of interest).  If Tenant remains in possession after the Expiration 
Date hereof or after any earlier termination date of this Lease or of Tenant's 
right to possession:  (a) Tenant shall be deemed a tenant-at-will; (b) Tenant 
shall pay one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the aggregate of the Base Rent 
and Additional Rent last prevailing hereunder, and also shall pay all actual 
damages sustained by Landlord, directly by reason of Tenant's remaining in 
possession after the expiration or termination of this Lease;  (c) there shall 
be no renewal or extension of this Lease by operation of law; and (d) the 
tenancy-at-will may be terminated upon thirty (30) days' written notice from 
Landlord.  The provisions of this Section 20 shall not constitute a waiver by 
Landlord of any re-entry rights of Landlord provided hereunder or by law. 
 
21.  EVENTS OF DEFAULT 
 
    21.1  Bankruptcy of Tenant.  It shall be a default by Tenant under this 



Lease if Tenant makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or files a 
voluntary petition under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law, or 
an involuntary petition alleging an act of bankruptcy or insolvency is filed 
against Tenant under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law that is 
not dismissed within ninety (90) days, or whenever a petition is filed by or 
against (to the extent not dismissed within ninety (90) days) Tenant under the 
reorganization provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code or under the 
provisions of any law or like import, or whenever a petition shall be filed by 
Tenant under the arrangement provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code 
or similar law, or whenever a receiver of Tenant, or of, or for, the property 
of Tenant shall be appointed, or Tenant admits it is insolvent or is not able 
to pay its debts as they mature. 
 
    21.2  Default Provisions.  Each of the following shall constitute a 
default by Tenant under this Lease:  (a) if Tenant fails to pay Rent or any 
other payment when due hereunder within five (5) days after written notice 
from Landlord of such failure to pay on the due date; provided, however, that 
if in any consecutive twelve (12) month period, Tenant shall, on three (3) 
separate occasions, fail to pay any installment of Rent on the date such 
installment of Rent is due, then, on the third (3rd) such occasion and on each 
occasion thereafter on which Tenant shall fail to pay an installment of Rent 
on the date such installment of Rent is due, Landlord shall be relieved from 
any obligation to provide notice to Tenant, and Tenant shall then no longer 
have a five (5) day period in which to cure any such failure; or (b) if Tenant 
fails, whether by action or inaction, to timely comply with, or satisfy, any 
or all of the obligations imposed on Tenant under this Lease (other than the 
obligation to pay Rent) for a period of thirty (30) days after Landlord's 
delivery to Tenant of written notice of such default under this subsection 
21.2(b); provided, however, that if the default cannot, by its nature, be 
cured within such thirty (30) day period, but Tenant commences and diligently 
pursues a cure of such default promptly within the initial thirty (30) day 
cure period, then Landlord shall not exercise its remedies under Section 22 
unless such default remains uncured for more than sixty (60) days after 
Landlord's notice; or (c) Tenant vacates or abandons the Premises during the 
Term.  Except for notices expressly provided for in this Lease, Tenant hereby 
waives all notices of any nature, including, without limitation, a notice to 
quit. 
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22.  RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 
 
    22.1  Landlord's Cure Rights Upon Default of Tenant.  If Tenant defaults 
in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease, Landlord, 
without thereby waiving such default, may (but shall not be obligated to) 
perform the same for the account, and at the expense of, Tenant upon 
compliance with any notice requirements and cure periods set forth in Section 
21.2. 
 
    22.2  Landlord's Remedies.  In the event of any default by Tenant under 
this Lease, Landlord, at its option, and after the proper notice and cure 
period, but without additional notice or demand from Landlord, if any, as 
provided in Section 21.2 has expired, may, in addition to all other rights and 
remedies provided in this Lease, or otherwise at law or in equity:  (a) 
terminate this Lease and Tenant's right of possession of the Premises; or (b) 
terminate Tenant's right of possession of the Premises without terminating 
this Lease; provided, however, that Landlord shall use its reasonable efforts, 
whether Landlord elects to proceed under Subsections (a) or (b) above, to 
relet the Premises, or any part thereof for the account of Tenant, for such 
rent and term and upon such terms and conditions as are acceptable to 
Landlord.  In the event of the termination of this Lease by Landlord pursuant 
to (a) above, Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant (i) all 
damages and other sums that Landlord is entitled to recover under any 
provision of this Lease or at law or in equity, including, but not limited to, 
all fixed dollar amounts of Base Rent and Additional Rent accrued and unpaid 
for the period up to and including such termination date; (ii) all other 
additional sums payable by Tenant, or for which Tenant is liable, or in 
respect of which Tenant has agreed to indemnify Landlord, under any of the 
provisions of this Lease, that may be then owing and unpaid; (iii) all costs 
and expenses (including, without limitation, court costs and attorneys' 
reasonable fees) incurred by Landlord in the enforcement of its rights and 
remedies under this Lease; and (iv) any damages provable by Landlord as a 
matter of law including, without limitation, an amount equal to the positive 
difference, if any, between (x) the discounted present value (at 6% per annum) 
of the Base Rent provided to be paid for the remainder of the Term (measured 
from the effective termination date of this Lease) and (y) the fair market 
rental value of the Leased Premises (determined at the date of termination of 
this Lease) after deduction (from such fair market rental value) of all of 
Landlord's anticipated expenses of reletting.  If Landlord elects to pursue 
its rights and remedies under Subsection (b), then Landlord shall at any time 
have the further right and remedy to rescind such election and pursue its 
rights and remedies under Subsection (a).  For purposes of any reletting, 
Landlord is authorized to decorate, repair, alter and improve the Premises to 
the extent deemed necessary by Landlord, in its sole, but reasonable, 
discretion.  If the Premises are relet and a sufficient sum is not realized 
therefrom, to satisfy the payment, when due, of Base Rent and Additional Rent 
reserved under the Lease for any monthly period (after payment of all 
Landlord's reasonable expenses of reletting), then Tenant shall, in Landlord's 
sole judgment, either (i) pay any such deficiency monthly or (ii) pay such 
deficiency on an accelerated basis, which accelerated deficiency shall be 
discounted at a rate of six percent (6%) per annum.  If Landlord fails to 
relet the Premises, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord the sum of (x) the 
projected costs of Landlord's reasonable expenses of reletting (including the 
anticipated costs of repairs, alterations, improvements, additions, legal fees 
and brokerage commissions) as reasonably estimated by Landlord and (y) the 
accelerated amount of Base Rent and Additional Rent due under the Lease for 
the balance of the Term, discounted at a rate of six percent (6%) per annum. 
Tenant agrees that Landlord may file suit to recover any sums due to Landlord 
hereunder from time to time and that such suit or recovery of any amount due 
Landlord hereunder shall not be any defense to any subsequent action brought 
for any amount not theretofore reduced to judgment in favor of Landlord.  In 
the event Landlord elects, pursuant to Subsection (b) of this Section 22.2, to 
terminate Tenant's right of possession only, without terminating this Lease, 
Landlord may, at Landlord's option, enter into the Premises, remove Tenant's 
Property, Tenant's signs and other evidences of tenancy, and take and hold 
possession thereof, as provided in Section 20 hereof; provided, however, that 
such entry and possession shall not terminate this Lease or release Tenant, in 
whole or in part, from Tenant's obligation to pay the Base Rent and Additional 
Rent reserved hereunder for the full Term, or from any other obligation of 
Tenant under this Lease.  Any and all property that may be removed from the 
Premises by Landlord pursuant to the authority of the Lease or of law, to 
which Tenant is or may be entitled, may be handled, removed or stored by 
Landlord at the risk, cost and expense of Tenant, and in no event or 
circumstance shall Landlord be responsible for the value, preservation or 
safekeeping thereof.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand, any and all 
expenses incurred in such removal and all storage charges against such 
property so long as the same shall be in Landlord's possession or under 
Landlord's control.  Any such property of Tenant not retaken from storage by 



Tenant within thirty (30) days after the end of the Term, however terminated, 
shall be conclusively presumed to have been conveyed by Tenant to Landlord 
under this Lease as in a bill of sale, without further payment or credit by 
Landlord to Tenant. 
 
    22.3  Additional Rights of Landlord.  Any and all costs, expenses and 
disbursements, of any kind or nature, incurred by Landlord or Agent in 
connection with the enforcement of any and all of the terms and provisions of 
this Lease, including reasonable attorneys' fees (through all appellate 
proceedings), shall be due and payable (as Additional Rent) upon Landlord's 
submission of an invoice therefor.  All sums advanced by Landlord or Agent on 
account of Tenant under this Section, or pursuant to any other provision of 
this Lease, and all Base Rent and Additional Rent, if delinquent or not paid 
by Tenant and received by Landlord when due hereunder, shall bear interest at 
the rate of five percent (5%) per annum above the "prime" or "reference" 
or "base" rate of interest publicly announced as such, from time to time, by 
The First National Bank of Chicago, from the due date thereof until paid, and 
such interest shall be and constitute Additional Rent and be due and payable 
upon Landlord's or Agent's submission of an invoice therefor.  The various 
rights, remedies and elections of Landlord reserved, expressed or contained 
herein are cumulative and no one of them shall be deemed to be exclusive of 
the others or of such other rights, remedies, options or elections as are now 
or may hereafter be conferred upon Landlord by law. 
 
    22.4  Event of Bankruptcy.  In addition to, and in no way limiting the 
other remedies set forth herein, Landlord and Tenant agree that if Tenant ever 
becomes the subject of a voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, reorganization, 
composition, or other similar type proceeding under the federal bankruptcy 
laws, as now enacted or hereinafter amended, then:  (a) "adequate assurance 
of future performance" by Tenant and/or any assignee of Tenant pursuant to 
Bankruptcy Code Section 365 will include (but not be limited to) payment of an 
additional/new security deposit in the amount of three (3) times the then 
current Base Rent payable hereunder; (b) any person or entity to which this 
Lease is assigned pursuant to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, shall be 
deemed, without further act or deed, to have assumed all of the obligations of 
Tenant arising under this Lease on and after the effective date of such 
assignment.  Any such assignee shall, upon demand by Landlord, execute and 
deliver to Landlord an instrument confirming such assumption of liability; (c) 
notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, all amounts payable by 
Tenant to or on behalf of Landlord under this Lease, whether or not expressly 
denominated as "Rent", shall constitute "rent" for the purposes of Section 
502(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code; and (d) if this Lease is assigned to any 
person or entity pursuant to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, any and 
all monies or other considerations payable or otherwise to be delivered to 
Landlord or Agent (including Base Rent, Additional Rent and other amounts 
hereunder), shall be and remain the exclusive property of Landlord and shall 
not constitute property of Tenant or of the bankruptcy estate of Tenant.  Any 
and all monies or other considerations constituting Landlord's property under 
the preceding sentence not paid or delivered to Landlord or Agent shall be 
held in trust by Tenant or Tenant's bankruptcy estate for the benefit of 
Landlord and shall be promptly paid to or turned over to Landlord. 
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    22.5  Recovery of Possession.  Following termination of the Lease or of 
Tenant's right of possession, Landlord immediately shall have the right to 
recover possession of the Premises; and to that end, Landlord may enter the 
Premises and take possession, without the necessity of giving Tenant any 
notice to quit or any other further notice, with legal process (or, if Tenant 
is not in occupancy, without legal process or proceedings) or may bring a 
summary dispossess action and obtain a judgment for possession of the 
Premises. 
 
23.  BROKER 
 
    Tenant covenants, warrants and represents that the broker set forth in 
Section 1.8(A) was the only broker to represent Tenant in the negotiation of 
this Lease ("Tenant's Broker").  Landlord covenants, warrants and represents 
that the broker set forth in Section 1.8(B) was the only broker to represent 
Landlord in the negotiation of this Lease ("Landlord's Broker").  Landlord 
shall be solely responsible for paying the commission of Landlord's Broker. 
Each party agrees to and hereby does defend, indemnify and hold the other 
harmless against and from any brokerage commissions or finder's fees or claims 
therefor by a party claiming to have dealt with the indemnifying party and all 
costs, expenses and liabilities in connection therewith, including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, for any breach of the 
foregoing.  The foregoing indemnification shall survive the termination of 
this Lease for any reason. 
 
24.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
    24.1  Merger.  All prior understandings and agreements between the parties 
are merged in this Lease, which alone fully and completely expresses the 
agreement of the parties.  No agreement shall be effective to modify this 
Lease, in whole or in part, unless such agreement is in writing, and is signed 
by the party against whom enforcement of said change or modification is 
sought. 
 
    24.2  Notices.  Any notice required to be given by either party pursuant 
to this Lease, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been properly 
given, rendered or made only if personally delivered, or if sent by Federal 
Express or other comparable commercial overnight delivery service, addressed 
to the other party at the addresses set forth below (or to such other address 
as Landlord or Tenant may designate to each other from time to time by written 
notice), and shall be deemed to have been given, rendered or made on the day 
so delivered or on the first business day after having been deposited with the 
courier service: 
 
 
                                If to Landlord: 
 
                              First Industrial, L.P. 
                              311 South Wacker Drive - Suite 4000 
                              Chicago, IL   60606 
                              Attn: Vice President - Portfolio Manager 
 
                                with a copy to: 
 
                              First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. 
                              200 Philips Road 
                              Exton, PA. 19341-1326 
                              Attn:  Peter O. Schultz, Jr. Regional Director 
 
                                if to Tenant: 
 
                              inTEST Corporation 
                              3 Computer Lane 
                              Cherry Hill, NJ 08003 
                              Attn:  Hugh Regan, Jr. 
 
    24.3  Non-Waiver.  The failure of either party to insist, in any one or 
more instances, upon the strict performance of any one or more of the 
obligations of this Lease, or to exercise any election herein contained, shall 
not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of the 
performance of such one or more obligations of this Lease or of the right to 
exercise such election, but the Lease shall continue and remain in full force 
and effect with respect to any subsequent breach, act or omission.  The 
receipt and acceptance by Landlord or Agent of Base Rent or Additional Rent 
with knowledge of breach by Tenant of any obligation of this Lease shall not 
be deemed a waiver of such breach. 
 
    24.4  Legal Costs.  Any party in breach or default under this Lease (the 



"Defaulting Party") shall reimburse the other party (the "Nondefaulting 
Party") upon demand for any legal fees and court (or other administrative 
proceeding) costs or expenses that the Nondefaulting Party incurs in 
connection with the breach or default, regardless whether suit is commenced or 
judgment entered.  Such costs shall include legal fees and costs incurred for 
the negotiation of a settlement, enforcement of rights or otherwise. 
Furthermore, in the event of litigation, the court in such action shall award 
to the party in whose favor a judgment is entered a reasonable sum as 
attorneys' fees and costs, which sum shall be paid by the losing party. Tenant 
shall pay Landlord's attorneys' reasonable fees incurred in connection with 
Tenant's request for Landlord's consent under provisions of this Lease 
governing assignment and subletting, or in connection with any other act which 
Tenant proposes to do and which requires Landlord's consent. 
 
    24.5  Parties Bound.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in this 
Lease, this Lease shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the 
successors and assignees of the parties hereto.  Tenant hereby releases 
Landlord named herein from any obligations of Landlord for any period 
subsequent to the conveyance and transfer of Landlord's ownership interest in 
the Property.  In the event of such conveyance and transfer, Landlord's 
obligations shall thereafter be binding upon each transferee (whether 
Successor Landlord or otherwise).  No obligation of Landlord shall arise under 
this Lease until the instrument is signed by, and delivered to, both Landlord 
and Tenant. 
 
    24.6  Recordation of Lease.  Tenant shall not record or file this Lease 
(or any memorandum hereof) in the public records of any county or state. 
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    24.7  Survival of Obligations.  Upon the expiration or other termination 
of this Lease, neither party shall have any further obligation nor liability 
to the other except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease and except 
for such obligations as, by their nature or under the circumstances, can only 
be, or by the provisions of this Lease, may be performed after such expiration 
or other termination. 
 
    24.8  Governing Law; Construction.  This Lease shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the state in which the Property is 
located.  If any provision of this Lease shall be invalid or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this Lease shall not be affected but shall be enforced to the 
extent permitted by law.  The captions, headings and titles in this Lease are 
solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect its interpretation. 
This Lease shall be construed without regard to any presumption or other rule 
requiring construction against the party causing this Lease to be drafted. 
Each covenant, agreement, obligation, or other provision of this Lease to be 
performed by Tenant, shall be construed as a separate and independent covenant 
of Tenant, not dependent on any other provision of this Lease.  All terms and 
words used in this Lease, regardless of the number or gender in which they are 
used, shall be deemed to include any other number and any other gender as the 
context may require.  This Lease may be executed in counterpart and, when all 
counterpart documents are executed, the counterparts shall constitute a single 
binding instrument. 
 
    24.9  Time.  Time is of the essence of this Lease.  If the time for 
performance hereunder falls on a Saturday, Sunday or a day that is recognized 
as a holiday in the state in which the Property is located, then such time 
shall be deemed extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday in said state. 
 
    24.10 Authority of Tenant.  If Tenant is a corporation, partnership, 
association or any other entity, it shall deliver to Landlord, concurrently 
with the delivery to Landlord of an executed Lease, certified resolutions of 
Tenant's directors or other governing person or body (i) authorizing execution 
and delivery of this Lease and the performance by Tenant of its obligations 
hereunder and (ii) certifying the authority of the party executing the Lease 
as having been duly authorized to do so. 
 
    24.11 WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY.  THE LANDLORD AND THE TENANT, TO THE 
FULLEST EXTENT THAT THEY MAY LAWFULLY DO SO, HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY TO THIS LEASE WITH RESPECT TO THIS 
LEASE, THE PREMISES, OR ANY OTHER MATTER RELATED TO THIS LEASE OR THE 
PREMISES. 
 
    24.12 Prior Leases.  Tenant and Landlord's predecessor, Cherry Hill 
Industrial Sites, Inc., are parties to certain leases dated February 11, 1996 
and August 22, 1997 ("Prior Leases") respecting premises 2 Pin Oak Lane and 
3 Esterbrook Lane, Cherry Hill Township, New Jersey ("Prior Premises"). 
Tenant shall vacate the Prior Premises within seven (7) days following the 
Commencement Date of this Lease.  Upon such vacation, provided Tenant shall 
have paid all sums due under the Prior Leases and performed all of its 
covenants thereunder, the Prior Leases shall terminate.  As of the 
Commencement Date, no further Base Rent shall accrue or be payable under the 
Prior Leases and such rent shall be apportioned as of the Commencement Date, 
with the amount of any prepaid Base Rent credited towards rent next payable 
under this Lease.  Tenant's direct cost of occupancy under the Prior Leases 
shall accrue and be payable through the date of vacation of the Prior 
Premises. 
 
    24.13 Joint and Several Liability.  All parties signing this Lease as 
Tenant shall be jointly and severally liable for all obligations of Tenant 
hereunder. 
 
    24.14 Riders.  All Riders and Exhibits attached hereto shall be deemed to 
be a part hereof and hereby incorporated herein. 
 
    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this Lease as 
of the day and year first above written. 
 
                         LANDLORD: First Industrial, L.P., a Delaware 
                                   limited partnership 
 
                               By: /s/ First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., 
                                   ---------------------------------------- 
                                   its general partner 
 
                               By: /s/ Ross Kirk 
                                   ---------------------------------------- 



                                   Managing Director 
 
                           TENANT: inTEST Corporation, a New Jersey 
                                   corporation 
 
                               By: /s/ Hugh T. Regan, Jr. 
                                   ------------------------------------- 
                              Its: Chief Financial Officer 
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                                                      EXHIBIT 10.2 
 
 
                         [inTEST Corporation Letterhead] 
 
 
 
 
 
June 22, 2000 
 
Mr. William M. Stone 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Temptronic Corporation 
55 Chapel Street 
Newton, MA  02158 
 
             RE:  Compensation Arrangements 
 
Dear Bill: 
 
     In light of the significant contributions you have made to Temptronic 
Corporation's return to profitability, we have agreed to revise your 
compensation arrangement as described in this letter. 
 
     1)  Options:  Promptly after the approval by our shareholders of the 
     amendment of our 1997 Stock Plan (the "Plan") to increase the number of 
     shares available for issuance under the Plan, the Compensation Committee 
     will take action to grant to you options to purchase 60,000 shares of 
     inTEST common stock (the "Options"). 
 
         We intend that the Options will be incentive stock options, having an 
     exercise price equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of 
     the common stock on the date of grant. 
 
         The Options will vest as follows:  20% upon grant and 20% on the 
     first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of initial 
     grant. Vesting of the options will be accelerated upon the occurrence of 
     any of the following conditions: (i) a "Change in Control" of inTEST 
     (as such phrase is defined in the Plan); (ii) your death or disability; 
     or (iii) the termination of your employment by inTEST without "cause" 
     (as defined in your employment agreement dated as of March 9, 2000). 
     Upon your voluntary resignation or termination of your employment by 
     inTEST for cause, any of the Options not then vested will terminate. 
 
         The Options will expire ten years after the date of grant, unless the 
     expiration date is accelerated as provided in the Plan.  Section 5.3(e) 
     of the Plan sets forth other provisions relevant to the termination of 
     options which will be applicable to the Options.  In addition, the 
     Options will be subject to the terms, conditions and provisions of the 
     Plan applicable to incentive stock options.  A copy of the Plan is 
     enclosed for your convenience. 
 



 
 
     2)  Bonus:  In addition to the bonus (the "Percent of Profits Bonus") 
     described in your employment agreement, we will pay you an additional 
     bonus (the "Fixed Bonus") as follows: 
 
           Payable Date                          Amount 
             8/1/00                             $100,000 
             8/1/01                             $100,000 
             8/1/02                             $100,000 
             8/1/03                             $100,000 
             8/1/04                             $100,000 
 
         Payment of the Fixed Bonus due on any Payable Date is conditioned 
     upon your continued employment with inTEST Corporation; provided, 
     however, that upon occurrence of any of the following events, the 
     remaining payments will be accelerated and become payable within thirty 
     days thereafter:  (i) a Change in Control of inTEST (as defined above); 
     (ii) your death or disability; or (iii) the termination of your 
     employment by inTEST without cause. 
 
         For purposes of determining the Percent of Profits Bonus, the pre-tax 
     profit used in the calculation of the Percent of Profits Bonus will be 
     net of the Fixed Bonus paid during the relevant calendar year. 
 
     3)  Additional Arrangements:  We will advance to you as a draw against 
     the Fixed Bonus described in Item 2 above the sum of $70,000.00 on the 
     later of (i) July 3, 2000 or (ii) the execution of this letter.  This 
     advance will be offset against the payment of the Fixed Bonus due on 
     8/1/00. 
 
     Please indicate your agreement to these proposed revisions of your 
compensation arrangement by signing a copy of this letter in the space 
provided below and returning such signed copy to my attention.  Upon 
shareholder approval of the amendment to increase the number of shares 
authorized under the Plan, we will take the necessary steps to issue the 
Options and to formally amend your employment agreement to reflect the 
provisions described in this letter. 
 
                                       With best regards, 
 
 
                                       /s/ Hugh T. Regan, Jr. 
                                       ------------------------- 
                                       Hugh T. Regan, Jr. 
                                       Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 
 
Agreed and accepted on June 26, 2000: 
 
 
/s/ William M. Stone 
- ------------------------------ 
William M. Stone 
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